Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange’’) take no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make
no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of

the contents of this announcement.

SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED
HX (1977)#ZE KRB R A T

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 8451)

ANNOUNCEMENT OF ANNUAL RESULTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024

The board of directors (the ‘“Directors”) of Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) announces the audited consolidated results of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 30 September 2024. This announcement, containing the full
text of the 2024 annual report of the Company, complies with the relevant requirements of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange in relation to
the information to accompany preliminary announcement of annual results.

For and on behalf of
Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited
Chua Liang Sie
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Singapore, 13 December 2024

As at the date of this announcement, the board of Directors comprises Mr. Chua Liang Sie
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Chua Liang Chui, Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias
Cai Wenhao) and Mr. Chua Wenjie (alias Cai Wenjie) as executive Directors; and Mr. Ng
Boon Cheow Freddie, Mr. Tog Chek Soon and Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia as independent
non-executive Directors.

This announcement, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that
to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this announcement is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
announcement misleading.

This announcement will remain on the ‘“Latest Listed Company Information” page of the
Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk for at least 7 days from the date of its
publication. This announcement will also be published on the Company’s website at
www.sunlightpaper.com.sg.

In case of any inconsistency, the English text shall prevail over the Chinese text.



CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM
GEM 245t

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or
this report misleading.

Unless otherwise stated, all monetary figures are expressed in SGD.
Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report have
been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as
totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the
figures preceding them. Expressions used throughout this report have
their meanings set out in the section headed “Definitions and Glossary
of Technical Terms”. In case of any inconsistency, the English text
shall prevail over the Chinese text.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information”
page of the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk for at
least 7 days from the date of its publication. This report will also be
published on the Company’s website at www.sunlightpaper.com.sg.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
XS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report and
the audited financial statements of the Group for the financial year
ended 30.9.2024.

During the Relevant Year, operating costs increased due to inflation.
We adjusted our selling prices constantly to counter inflation. Gross
profit improved in the Relevant Year.

During the Relevant Year, we completed the acquisition of a new
production line for the production of hand towels. At the end of the
Relevant Year, we commenced commercial production of hand
towels.

PERFORMANCE

Our revenue decreased slightly by 3.7% from $14.6 million in the
Previous Year to $14.1 million in the Relevant Year.

Gross profit increased by 6.0% from $4.5 million in the Previous Year
to $4.8 million in the Relevant Year as we adjusted our selling prices
constantly.

Our profit increased by 13.1% from $650,000 in the Previous Year to
$735,000 in the Relevant Year.

PROSPECTS

We are optimistic on the growth of the industry in Singapore. We are
confident in Singapore’s economic development and its strength as a
financial centre, as evidenced by the positive GDP recorded over the
past years.

In order to grasp the corresponding opportunities, we maintain our
commitment to continuous growth through leveraging on our 45-year
experience in the industry, building strong ties with customers and
suppliers, and monitoring product quality and product delivery
satisfaction.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEBE

We will continue to evaluate development opportunities to strengthen
our competitive advantage and market-leading position. We monitor
new tissue product developments, continue to source for good
quallity tissue paper and tissue products with competitive pricing, and
keep a look out for other tissue-related products.

We are optimistic about achieving sustainable growth and we are
committed to bring greater returns to our Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | express my sincere gratitude to our
management and staff for their hard work and dedication as well as
to our Shareholders and business partners for their support.

Chua Liang Sie
Chairman and Executive Director
Singapore, 13.12.2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

We supply tissue products to corporate customers in Singapore. We
provide comprehensive services, ranging from advising the types and
specifications of tissue products, sourcing suitable products,
conducting quality control, delivery of products through our fleet of
delivery trucks, to providing after-sales services.

Our revenue is mainly from the sale of: (i) tissue products, (i) hygiene-
related products, and (i) other related products.

Our revenue for the Relevant Year was $14.1 million, a slight decrease
of 3.7% against the Previous Year.

Our profit for the Relevant Year was $735,000, an increase of 13.1%
against the Previous Year.

PROSPECTS

We are confident in growing our revenue because tissue products are
daily necessities.

Over the past 45 years, we have built strong ties with customers and
suppliers. We provide quality products to our customers and maintain
product delivery satisfaction.

We will continue to evaluate development opportunities to strengthen
our competitive advantage and market-leading position. We monitor
new tissue product developments, continue to source for good
quality tissue paper and tissue products with competitive pricing, and
keep a look out for other tissue-related products.

We are optimistic about achieving sustainable growth and we are
committed to bring greater returns to our Shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7% Bl 8
Revenue Wiz
Hygiene-
Tissue related
products products Others Total
BEAER FENEBER Hith Bt
$000 $000 $000 $000
Tr Fr Fr Tr
Relevant Year BREE
Revenue from external customers RENBELHMER
and reportable segment revenue BEE e 12,485 886 690 14,061
Segment profit ar Yl 4179 377 248 4,804
Previous Year L-%E
Revenue from external customers RENBEPMMER
and reportable segment revenue B Gile 13,013 894 689 14,596
Segment profit DERF 3,929 369 236 4,534

The revenue for the Relevant Year was $14.1 million, representing a A4 Z Uk 414,100,000 7T © & F —EE IS
slight decrease of $0.5 million or 3.7% against the Previous Year 14,600,000 785 2> 500,000 7T823.7% ©

revenue of $14.6 million.

° Sales of tissue products decreased by $0.5 million, representing e
a slight decrease of 3.7%.

° Sales of hygiene-related products did not change significantly. .

o Sales of other products did not change significantly. .

° Throughout the Relevant Year, we adjusted our selling prices to e
match the cost of inventory as we adopt a cost-plus pricing
policy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales decreased from $10.1 million to $9.3 million from the
Previous Year to the Relevant Year, representing a decrease of 8.0%.
The overall decrease in cost of sales corresponded with the decrease
in revenue.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased from $4.5 million to $4.8 million from the
Previous Year to the Relevant Year. Gross profit margin increased
from 31.1% to 34.2% from the Previous Year to the Relevant Year,
representing an increase of 310 basis points. This is due to regular
price adjustments.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased from $1.7 million to $1.9
million from the Previous Year to the Relevant Year, representing an
increase of 8.1%. The increase is due to inflation and changes to
sales commission structure.

Administrative Expenses
Administrative expenses did not change significantly.

Taxation

Taxation in the Relevant Year is proportionately higher than the
Previous Year due to capital grant of $490,000 received in the
Relevant Year (Previous Year: $nil).

Results for the Year
Profit attributable to the owners of the Company was $735,000 in the
Relevant Year, increased from $650,000 in the Previous Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group had total assets of $21.8
million (Previous Year: $20.3 million), which was financed by total
liabilities of $3.6 million (Previous Year: $3.5 million) and shareholders’
equity (comprising share capital, share premium and reserves) of
$18.2 million (Previous Year: $16.8 million). The current ratio of the
Group at the end of the Relevant Year was 4.5 times (Previous Year:
3.5 times). During the Relevant Year, cash and cash equivalents were
used for purchase of machinery.

Trade debtor and trade creditor turnover in the Relevant Year were
56.7 days (Previous Year: 57.6 days) and 22.0 days (Previous Year:
26.3 days) respectively.

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of $3.5 million (Previous Year: $1.7 million) which were
placed with major banks in Singapore and Hong Kong. The cash and
cash equivalents were mainly denominated in SGD.

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group had no outstanding loans
(Previous Year: $nil). The gearing ratio (calculated based on net debt
divided by total capital plus net debt, whereby net debt comprises
borrowings, trade and other payables and lease liability, less cash
and cash equivalents) of the Group at the end of the Relevant Year
was not meaningful for this purpose (Previous Year: 0.2%).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group transacts mainly in SGD, which is the functional currency
of all the Group’s operating subsidiaries. The Group is of the opinion
that its exposure to foreign exchange rate risk is limited. Nevertheless,
the management monitors closely the Group’s foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

The Group did not have plans for material investments or capital
assets as at the end of the Relevant Year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

In the Relevant Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Significant Investments Held

The Group did not hold any significant investments in the Relevant
Year (Previous Year: nil).

Contingent Liabilities
At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (Previous Year: nil).

Capital Commitments

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group has no capital
commitment (Previous Year: $0.1 million for the purchase of
production machineries).

Employee and Remuneration Policy
At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group had an aggregate of 36
employees (Previous Year: 37).

The employees of the Group are remunerated according to their job
scope and responsibilities. All employees are also entitled to
discretionary bonus depending on their respective performance. The
details are set out under the section headed “Emolument Policy” of
this annual report.

Total staff costs in the Relevant Year, including Directors’
emoluments, amounted to $2.8 million (Previous Year: $2.5 million).

The Group did not experience any significant problem with our
employees or disruptions to our operations due to labour disputes,
nor did the Group experience any difficulty in the recruitment and
retention of experienced employees. The Group continues to maintain
a good relationship with our employees.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme, details are set
out under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this annual
report. The Group also provides and arranges on-the-job training for
the employees.

Charge on Group Assets
Banking facilities were secured by the Group’s building on leasehold
land and a corporate guarantee from the Company.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Net proceeds from the Share Offer of $4.6 million were fully utilized by
30.9.2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERNWRkD

#r

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES
WITH ACTUAL PROGRESS

During the Relevant Year, acquisition of a new production line for the
production of hand towels was completed. At the end of the Relevant

Year, commercial production of hand towels commenced.

The following is a comparison of the Group’s business objectives as
set out in the Prospectus and the Announcement with actual

progress for the Relevant Year.

Implementation plan

as disclosed in Prospectus
and subsequently adjusted
in the Announcement

Scheduled activities for

the Relevant Year as disclosed
in the Prospectus

and the Announcement

EREREEREENLER

REBFE TR THBE - EMEERLIERT
Mo NABFER FIGKTRERLEE -

NI RBERERRZASAEASENER BT
HERFECEREROLR -

Actual activities achieved for the Relevant Year

BREBEERHANZDY RBREEBRZADEIRER

EHENERTE EHFENEERES REBFENERES
Upgrade our conversion line for e Commercial production of o Completed.

the production of jumbo roll jumbo roll tissues by the

tissues upgraded conversion line

ABEERGEFEENEHR o HARNBREFEELEERSE o =T2e

R REEL

Acquire a new production line

o Commercial production of hand

o Acquisition of a new production line for the

for the production of hand towels production of hand towels was completed.

towels Commercial production of hand towels commenced.

BEROEEREERTH o RKFEABELE o ERTRE-BRMEESEERTH - REHKFHR
BRAEE -

Extension of existing factory o Completion of factory extension e Completed.

building and purchase lifting o Purchased lifting equipment

equipment (Note)

BEERBEIRAER o  IRERZT o TR

EERERE (M) o [BEREREG

Note: As disclosed in the announcement entitled “Change in use of proceeds” Mz MR B EIA2019F3 A5 B [ EkFTEZIE

dated 5.3.2019 (the “Announcement”), the Board resolved to utilise the
net proceeds originally allocated for the investment in an additional
factory building to the extension of the existing factory building. For

details, please refer to the Announcement.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

ESEREREEE[N

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chua Liang Sie, aged 65, is our executive Director, Chairman and
chief executive officer of our Company, who joined our Group in July
1982. He is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee. He was appointed as our Director on
21.9.2017, and was re-designated as our executive Director and was
also appointed as our Chairman and chief executive officer on
30.10.2017. Mr. LS Chua is also a director of certain subsidiaries. Mr. LS
Chua is responsible for formulating the overall strategies and planning of
our Group. Mr. LS Chua is a director of YJH Group and is a Substantial
Shareholder.

Mr. LS Chua has over 40 years of experience in the tissue product
industry for corporate customers. In July 1982, Mr. LS Chua joined
Sunlight Paper as production manager, where he was responsible for
the production of conventional roll tissue, and was also appointed as
a director of Sunlight Paper. He became the managing director of
Sunlight Paper in February 1990 and since then, he is responsible for
the business strategies, planning and management of Sunlight Paper.
Mr. LS Chua completed secondary education in Singapore in 1975.

Mr. LS Chua is the elder brother of Mr. LC Chua, and the father of
Mr. WH Chua and Mr. WJ Chua.

Mr. Chua Liang Chui, aged 63, is our executive Director and sales
director, who joined our Group in July 1982. He was appointed as
Director on 21.9.2017 and was redesignated as our executive
Director on 30.10.2017. Mr. LC Chua is also a director of certain
subsidiaries. He is responsible for sales and marketing of our Group.
Mr. LC Chua is a director of YJH Group and is a Substantial
Shareholder.

Mr. LC Chua has over 40 years of experience in the tissue product
industry for corporate customers. Mr. LC Chua joined Sunlight Paper
as logistics manager and was appointed as a director of Sunlight
Paper in July 1982. In October 1996, he was promoted to be
warehouse manager, and he served as sales manager in Sunlight
Paper from October 2006 to September 2010. Since October 2010,
Mr. LC Chua has been the sales director of Sunlight Paper and is
responsible for sales and marketing of our products for Sunlight
Paper. Mr. LC Chua completed secondary education in Singapore in
1977.

Mr. LC Chua is the younger brother of Mr. LS Chua and uncle of Mr.
WH Chua and Mr. WJ Chua.

HITES
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

ESENRGREEE[N

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao), aged 40, is our executive
Director and deputy chief executive officer, who joined our Group in
September 2013. He was appointed as Director on 21.9.2017. On
30.10.2017, he was re-designated as our executive Director and was
appointed as the deputy chief executive officer. Mr. WH Chua is also
a director of certain subsidiaries. He is responsible for assisting the
chief executive officer and implementing strategies of our Group.

Mr. WH Chua joined as sales manager of Sunlight Paper in
September 2013 and was responsible for sales of products for
Sunlight Paper. Prior to joining our Group, from November 2010 to
June 2012, Mr. WH Chua worked at HSBC in the HSBC Graduate
Internship Programme. Mr. WH Chua obtained a bachelor’s degree in
business management from Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology
University in August 2010.

Mr. WH Chua is the son of Mr. LS Chua, the nephew of Mr. LC Chua
and the elder brother of Mr. WJ Chua.

Mr. Chua Wenjie (alias Cai Wenjie), aged 37, is our executive
Director and deputy sales director, who joined our Group in July
2014. He was appointed as executive Director on 9.9.2021. Mr. WJ
Chua is also a director of Sunlight Paper. He is responsible for
assisting the sales director to implement marketing strategies of
Sunlight Paper. He is also responsible for sales of products for
Sunlight Paper.

Mr. WJ Chua joined as sales manager of Sunlight Paper in July 2014
and was responsible for sales of products for Sunlight Paper. Prior to
joining our Group, from July 2011 to June 2014, Mr. WJ Chua
worked at Hong Leong Finance Limited as branch manager. Mr. WJ
Chua obtained a bachelor honours degree in banking and finance
from the University of London (Singapore Institute of Management) in
June 2011.

Mr. WJ Chua is the son of Mr. LS Chua, the nephew of Mr. LC Chua
and the younger brother of Mr. WH Chua.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

ESEREREEE[N

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie (“Mr. Ng”), aged 58, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 28.2.2019. He is a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Ng is currently a director of ABBPE Capital Management Pte Ltd.
Mr. Ng has over 25 years of experience in accounting, audit and
advisory services.

Mr. Ng obtained a bachelor of accountancy from the National
University of Singapore in July 1990. He had worked in various
financial institutions as a tax officer, audit senior and investment
research analyst.

Mr. Tog Chek Soon (“Mr. Tog”), aged 58, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 27.11.2020. He is a member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Tog is currently the Asia Sales Director of AMETEK Singapore Pte
Ltd. He has over 30 years of experience in the sale and marketing of
electrical components and equipment. Mr. Tog obtained a bachelor
of engineering (electrical) from the National University of Singapore in
June 1989, a graduate diploma in marketing from the Marketing
Institute of Singapore in May 1992 and a degree of master of
business administration from Cranfield University School of
Management in June 1994.

Mr. Tog is experienced in business culture across Asia by marketing
electrical components and equipment from European and American
manufacturers to customers in Asia including the ASEAN countries,
Australia, China, India, Japan and New Zealand.

Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia (“Ms. Lye”), aged 57, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 28.2.2019. She is the
chairlady of our Audit Committee.

Ms. Lye is currently a director of Youngone International Asia Pte Ltd.
Ms. Lye has over 25 years of experience in accounting, audit and
finance. Ms. Lye had worked as, among others, audit senior,
accountant, finance and administration manager, financial controller
and finance and administration director in various institutions.

Ms. Lye obtained a bachelor of accountancy from the National
University of Singapore in July 1989, and became a Chartered
Accountant of Singapore in April 2014.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

ESENRGREEE[N

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Choy Tuck Leong (“Mr. Choy”), aged 59, joined our Group in

July 2017 and is our chief financial officer and company secretary.
Mr. Choy is responsible for overseeing the overall corporate and
financial matters of our Group.

Mr. Choy has approximately 35 years of experience in audit and
corporate finance. Mr. Choy obtained a bachelor’s degree of
accountancy from The National University of Singapore in June 1988.
He is a member and a fellow chartered accountant of the Institute of
Singapore Chartered Accountants since December 1992 and
November 2004, respectively. He is also a fellow certified public
accountant of CPA Australia since January 2010.

Ms. See Ai Kiok (“Ms. See”), aged 64, joined our Group in October
2009 as accounts executive. Ms. See is the head of human resources
of Sunlight Paper since October 2014. She is responsible for human
resources, accounts and administrative matters. Ms. See has over 30
years of experience in accounting and human resources. She
completed the London Chamber of Commerce and Industry
International Qualifications course in 1980.

Mr. Goh Kuang Song (“Mr. Goh”), aged 59, joined our Group as
warehouse manager in December 1993. Mr. Goh is the head of
logistics of Sunlight Paper since October 2006. Mr. Goh, has over 30
years of experience in logistics and is responsible for managing
warehouse and logistics matters.

Mr. Yong Ning Choy (“Mr. Yong”), aged 53, joined our Group as
machine operator in June 1998 and he is the head of production of
Sunlight Paper since October 2007. Mr. Yong has over 25 years of
experience in production and is responsible for overseeing production
of our tissue products.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B - HERERERS

This report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG”) Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Guide”)
contained in Appendix C2 of the GEM Listing Rules.

This report covers the social and environment aspects of the ESG
Guide. The governance aspect of the ESG Guide is addressed in the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

This report covers our delivery of tissue products to customers in
Singapore and the production of jumbo roll tissue in our factory in
Singapore in the Relevant Year carried out by Sunlight Paper.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

We applied the following principles in the preparation of this report:

Materiality

We engage with our stakeholders to identify and assess ESG issues
that matter most from their perspectives. We access the materiality of
these ESG issues based on the corresponding risks posed on the
sustainability on the Group’s business.

Quantitative

Where applicable, we provided information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and
source of conversion factors used, for the reporting of emissions/
energy consumption disclosed in the respective sections in this
report.

Balance

We avoided intentional selections, omissions, or presentation formats
that might inappropriately influence a decision or judgment to provide
an unbiased picture of our performance.

Consistency
We applied consistent methodologies to allow for meaningful
comparisons of ESG data over time.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERS

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Board Statement

We recognise our corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) to society.
Consequently, our Board oversees ESG issues.

ESG issues are identified and evaluated for material risks posed to
the Group. Once identified, the Board neutralizes the risks from these
material ESG-related issues.

We integrate social and environmental aspects into our daily
operations where practicable whilst balancing the cost of such
integration against tangible returns.

Management Approach and Strategy

We established a team led by an executive Director to determine ESG
issues. The team compiles ESG issues which are (a) identified
internally from our operations, and (b) collated externally from our
stakeholders. The team evaluates the identified ESG issues.

Our Board sets parameters for the team to prioritise the ESG issues
in terms of risk to the Group’s business. Data from these material
ESG risks is gathered and KPIs are created to set practicable targets.
The team manages these material ESG risks by regularly monitoring
the KPIs against the targets.

The team also sets environmental goals and social goals for the
sustainability of the Group’s business.

Progress Review
The team updates our Board regularly with the status of achieving the
KPI targets, the environmental goals and the social goals.

Meanwhile, our Board continues to monitor the risks posed to the
Group from these material ESG issues. As business continues to
evolve, our Board is on the constant look out for new ESG issues.
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RIE #HEBREAR

OUR STRATEGY

Sustainability of ESG aspects is important to long-term value creation

wE

for our stakeholders. We identify environmental and social
responsibilities as our core commitments. We play our part to
contribute to the communities where our employees and customers
work and live.

Our strategy to fulfil our environmental and social responsibilities is
through achievements of environmental and social goals in our daily
operations.

Goals

We integrate environmental and social considerations into our

business objectives to achieve:

Environmental goals:
° Add environmentally friendly elements in our daily operations;

° Use energy and resources efficiently;

° Reduce greenhouse gas emissions; and

° Continuously improve waste management

Social goals:

° Respect employees’ rights and promote an equal opportunity

workplace;

° Commit to occupational safety and health, and endeavour to
provide a safe and healthy workplace;

o Commit to ethical business practices, and build integrity within
the workplace; and

° Support community participation
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERS

OUR STRATEGY (Continued)

Approach

We execute our environmental and social strategy to achieve its
related goals through a series of actions and commitments:

° Embed environmental and social goals into business processes
including decision making process;

° Formulate and document environmental and social policies for
management and staff members to follow;

° Comply with environmental and social laws and regulations;
° Report our performance on a balanced picture;
° Disclose KPIs as measurement of actual results;

° Ensure appropriate and effective ESG risk management and
internal control systems are in place; and

° Practise corporate citizenship

We established a team to develop environmental and social policies.
The team monitors, manages, recommends and reports on ESG
matters. This is to ensure that potentially harmful occupational health
and safety, environmental and social effects are properly assessed,
addressed and monitored.

ENGAGING OUR STAKEHOLDERS

We maintain an open and honest relationship with our stakeholders.
Continuous communication enables us to consider how our business
decisions impact our stakeholders. The table below presents our
communication methods with our stakeholders.
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AR E

ENGAGING OUR STAKEHOLDERS (Continued)

BFHESHEE

Stakeholder Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication
5 4 &HE Bl BERGE BEASA
Investors e Shareholders e Corporate website
e Routine reports
e Annual general meeting
e Announcements and disclosures
REHE o BE o {DEEMEU
o fliTHRE
o WKREBFRE
o NERHE
Employees e Senior Management e Training and conferences
e Staff e Face-to-face meetings
e Potential recruits e Periodic interviews
e (SR and volunteering activities
(== o EREEE o IEAIREEHE
e BT o
o EBHEEE o EHIEHA
e NEMEBREAREILEY
Customers e Facility management and cleaning e Customer assessment
contractors e Product presentation
e Sourcing agencies e Designated customer hotline
¢ Private organisations
B o REEEIBREANR o EFRME
o RERIE o EmER
o ThAMRE s HPHHR
Suppliers e Tissue suppliers e Supplier assessment
e Materials suppliers e Quality and delivery review
e Transportation providers e Factory visits
HrEm o BHEMMEER o HERAHE
o MEMHtER e HERIXMNESL
o EHITHR o FFIM
Government e Government agencies e Written correspondence
e Regulators e Ad-hoc meetings
IEgE) o INTHEES o EMEEX
o EEHE e RhRlEE
Community e National and local community e Industrial events
organisations e Seminar
e (SR activities
Fanl o ZEINEMITRAR e TEEH
o HEiE®

o EMERTEH
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R HERERERS

ENGAGING OUR STAKEHOLDERS (Continued)

We engaged our management and employees who are usually in
communication with our stakeholders to identify material ESG issues.
Through this approach, we identified areas for improvement in our
daily operations to achieve environmental and social goals.

During the Relevant Year, no material ESG issues arose from our
engagement with stakeholders.

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT

We acknowledge our responsibility to protect the environment. As
such, we have integrated environmental considerations into our
business operations, including but not limited to improving our
environmental practices through minimising pollution, utilising energy
efficiently and reducing waste in our daily operations.

During the Relevant Year, commercial production of jumbo roll tissues
commenced. This is reflected in our electricity consumption.

Emission Control

Due to the nature of our operations and the existing measures
spearheaded by Singapore government agencies to protect the
environment, there are limited actions within our control that could
effectively and meaningfully improve the environment. We are of the
opinion that our actions have met our goals during the Relevant Year.

In Singapore, the National Environment Agency (“NEA”) is the leading
public organisation responsible for ensuring a clean and green
environment, including air pollution from emission with emphasis on
sulphur dioxide.

The main source of sulphur dioxide emission in Singapore is industries
such as refineries and power stations. Motor vehicles (both petrol and
diesel) contribute only 0.1% to total sulphur dioxide emission.
Nevertheless, NEA mandated the supply of cleaner petrol for motor
vehicles with sulphur content lower than 0.001% with effect from July
2017 and the sale of new petrol and diesel vehicles to meet EURO VI
emission standard with effect from September 2017 and January
2018 respectively.

In our delivery operations, we generate emission from our diesel
trucks when we deliver products to our customers. In view of the
abatement measures by NEA and the miniscule impact of motor
vehicle emission to the overall air pollution in Singapore, we do not
monitor emission from our delivery activities.

22  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

BHESH®

BN ERERESKTEIFNERR  UBTE
BARE  #HegLEBEARME - BBUILE - HAD
BEARLEPHTECENES - UEBERRIRR
HEEE-

REBFE  RAFNELENEKELAELR
B HEREANEARRE -

RERIR

?&1Fﬁi§?%%ﬂﬁf?ﬁ1%%f§iﬁﬁ’ﬂi& < AL - BME K
REZEMARMOEBLE  BIF(E TEEEA)
FRRAIFER - BRF A J?&/Ui CHEEER
BN MRARR TR -

RIEBEFE  AERFLEACKRARBELE -
ERBRERMNEEFRL -

BERCEE

PR B 1P ) 42 T 08 K A T T A S R P B

REBAEMIRROREHE - ERFRHRER
MeEHDEH IR ERANTHER - BB
ARPRBEFEHTHEEHRMAG A2

REME - BRBRB(RRB]) AEERRE
/gﬁiféfﬁiﬁ( FEEERGER M ZE RS A - B 7l
—E i) MEB QAL -

N — S HER e E ERORARE R R EE
ShEATE o RE (m REm) B S b ma s
WMERO01% - BEWIL - IRFER/ TS EH2017EF
7TARAABERMHEEEEEN0.001%MIFRA
M WO RIE 201769 A K2018F 1 ARRHEER
A BREE 7S ERBE S XE R ) e [R5 B o

EHMNMERRES  ERMAATPNEER
B RIS REFELTN - ERIRERD
P A RO E B ST IR B RIS R
MM E - BMLEEANRMNTEBRIZTH
HIRE -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B - HERERERS

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Instead, it is more practical to monitor fuel consumption against
quantity of products delivered and number of deliveries. With data
collected over a certain duration, we can determine meaningful targets.

In our office and factory, we generate GHG emission from use of
electricity. In Singapore, electricity is supplied by the government and
we have no control over the source of electricity generation.
Consequently, we do not monitor GHG emission as a KPI. Instead,
we monitor our electricity consumption by kWh.

Our executives travel overseas for business purposes on scheduled
flights by commercial airlines. These scheduled flights contribute to
air pollution via GHG emission. Our decision to travel or not to travel
does not alter such scheduled flights in anyway whatsoever.
Consequently, we do not monitor GHG emission from our air travel.

Waste Management
Hazardous waste
Our operations do not produce hazardous waste.

Non-hazardous waste
The non-hazardous waste we produced in the Relevant Year are:

° Packaging materials, principally carton boxes 194 tonnes
(Previous Year: 201 tonnes) — sold to recyclable waste
collectors by our customers.

° Waste from production activities 21 tonnes (Previous Year: 10
tonnes) — sold to recyclable waste collector.

° General waste from daily activities — collected by a private
contractor weekly at a fixed fee. No KPI is available.

Packaging materials, principally carton boxes, represent our main
non-hazardous waste. Carton boxes are necessary to maintain
hygiene standards of our tissue products. It is not possible to reduce
packaging materials and consequently, we do not set reduction
targets.

We are of the opinion that our actions have met our goals during the
Relevant Year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERS

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Green Office Measures

We adopt the 3R concept of “reduce, reuse and recycle”. Green
reminders are communicated to our employees to cultivate their
awareness of environmental protection in daily operations.

We have measures to enhance energy saving. In office, we encourage
the use of electronic devices in our daily operations; we set the air-
conditioning temperatures at an environment-friendly level; we switch
off all lighting and air-conditioning if not in use; and we install motion-
sensor lighting where applicable to avoid energy wastage.

Water consumption is for drinking and sanitation purposes and
consequently, we do not set efficiency targets. Water is supplied by

the government. Our water consumption is minimal.

We are of the opinion that our actions have met our goals during the
Relevant Year.

Resources Consumption:

RERE ()
RPN T
BEA [RE  ERREEEM] M3RES -
MIEEMESEEHEERNEELBTNER

= o
/=Rl

BB — RPN EHIA ISR ETHIBEIR - RIPFAE -
ZABRAEEETPERAETRE  RAHE
WHREREERKRKF - ROERAMBEREAR
ALz ZRMEEE TR DREEE - &
REEFRE ©
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Mk B 1R o FKBBURLRE - RANMBKERD -

BRRR REBEE  RAKANTHEEK
SRE

BIRBRE :

KPI Relevant Year Previous Year
FARENIEE BEBFE F—FF
m?d m?3

TR SR

Water consumption /K& -* -*
Per employee BEEE -* *
kWh’000 kWh’000

FB TR FEF

Electricity consumption AE=E 165 118
litre litre

F Ft

Diesel consumption FA5E 0/ 35,700 33,405
Per 1,000 delivery orders FTEXEE 1,917 1,776
Per 1,000 units delivered BT EERERX 70 61

* BT HER KRR EIRAEIE R & - sUEARH
HERERUR

No accurate data available because the water meter supplied by the
government was not operating properly for an extended period.

BPS AN EERBEEROREREIR
FKR LR EEREEEMELERAY
BMEERERTENERIEREN -

We are not aware of any cases of non-compliance with laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on our operations in relation
to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and onto the land,
or generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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B - HERERERS

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Climate Change

We carry out risk analysis to determine the positive and negative
impacts of climate change on our operations, and the likelihood that
such impacts would occur. We set parameters and provide resources
to identify significant climate-related issues and mitigate their impacts.

We identified the following significant climate-related issues which
may impact our operations.

RERE ()

RIREL

BMETRBROTET RECHRMELHE
ENEEYE RELWEYEOTEYE B
BE LIRS R REARRERED
PREHPE -

HPIHEE T AT AT RERF ERFIRENEARIEA
WEH -

Significant climate-related issues
EAREBHASEE

Impact to our operations

HRMBENTE

Likelihood of impact
HERTRE

Our location — our factory is
5m above sea level.

P E — RPN THERS AK

Our product — tissue is
fundamentally made
from wood pulp.

BMMER — SMERE
AR SR ©

Our delivery — we deliver to
customers via our fleet of trucks.

HFRA — RFBBRFIN
RTEEFREPR

Our supply — we purchase from
suppliers located overseas.

T — BRI
BINNHERE R RS ©

During the Relevant Year, there were no significant climate-related %
issues which have impacted our operations.

If sea level rises, our factory
could be submerged.

MBS TE LF
BP9 TR B RS -

If temperature rises or falls,
trees may not survive, leading to
loss of wood pulp.
MERE EFA TR -
BIAABEEETIE
BEURMFIERL -

If sea level rises, roads may be
flooded, thus impeding delivery.

MRS FE LT - BEATREERE
08 1 PEL B 3 i

Our suppliers may be affected by
climate change such as flooding.

BRI HER A X

=
HKER RS VR o
HKERIEFE T E

B
E =

Very unlikely — sea level is
not expected to increase
5m due to climate change.
RAA g~ RIREH L FEHEFE
PIEERIE NS K o

Very unlikely — trees grow in
extensive temperature ranges.

TARARE — BIREREREZH
REHER o

Minimal impact — Singapore roads
are well elevated and drained.
Additionally, our trucks can
bypass the affected roads
via alternate routes.

FER/ — AAMINEEBERSSEM
PR o dhoh - B8y
REAABRBERERER
REBEK -

High likelihood — We mitigate this
risk by purchasing from
various suppliers spread
over a few countries.

SRR — RIVBRRDMHE
HME B K ) (R 44 8 7 B AR
R R SRR -

MEE  BEZERMNZSENEARIXAEM
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R HERERERS

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment Standards and Well-being

Our employees are valuable assets and our success is underpinned
by our people. We provide attractive remuneration packages, and a
fair and harmonious working environment to safeguard the legitimate
rights and interests of our employees. Our human resource policies
outline our compensation, working hours, rest periods and other
benefits and welfare, which comply with laws and regulations. We
attract qualified applicants by offering competitive remuneration
packages based on prevailing market conditions.

A staff handbook is in place so that employees are aware of the
goals, policies and procedures of the Group as well as their
responsibilities. The staff handbook is updated when necessary.

We comply with (a) the Employment Act (Cap. 91) of Singapore which
is the key legislation governing basic terms and conditions of
employment and the rights and obligations of both employers and
employees; and (b) the Employment of Children and Young Persons
Regulations which govern the work that children and young persons
can do.

We comply with the rule and regulations on the employment of
foreign workers as stipulated by the Ministry of Manpower of
Singapore (“MOM”), such as the Employment of Foreign Manpower
Act (Cap. 91A) and the Employment of Foreign Manpower (Work
Passes) Regulations 2012. We recognise the importance of a fair and
harmonious working environment and adhere to the principle of equal
opportunities by following the Tripartite Guidelines on Fair
Employment Practices which are formulated by the Tripartite Alliance
for Fair and Progressive Employment Practices.

We endeavour to create a workplace based on respect for human
rights and where our employees are free to practise their beliefs and
preferences.

During the Relevant Year, we are not aware of any cases of non-
compliance with Singapore’s employment laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on our operations.

26  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

BREREIER

TR Rl A& F

HMWEERBEEEE  BWFERAEMAK
e BFRHARSINNFHFERATFEEDN
TYERSE - U R B A EEN R - B
WA ERBE AP - TR - K
SREAREMFIEREN - FAERER - B
PIREE AT TR A B F O F B8 - 1M
RE| AR EIEE -

AEBEFTAEEIFM HEEMEZAEENA
R BEREEFUREASGHEE - BTFMHR
WEREEF o

BB T @ FMBCRERZER) (BN E) » L&
ERARERNENGRRIGHARBERESR
MREMEEENERER  ROEAZEREED
FRD - ZIEOIRERBERBDFAIRENTIE -

BAETHMEA DB ANE)) E@ERINE
T ABIR AR AR - anshE T AR RSA (B 91A
) R2012FINE T ARRE (TIEE) RO o A
REATFEANTIERENEZ M IWRBA TS
EREEBR - FHBESTNATREETR =718
S B EIFRA -

o

BFENREEAARBERN TIERE B
A EEETREMREE -

\
’

REBFE - HRPIBT B E R INRIERE
FRMARAHRMEERERTENEN -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B - HERERERS

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
(Continued)

Total Workforce

During the Relevant Year, all our employees are located in Singapore.
At the end of the Relevant Year, we had 36 (Previous Year: 37) full-
time employees. Although the ratio of female to male employees is
0.38:1 (Previous Year: 0.48:1), this is observed to be an industry
norm and does not conflict with our anti-gender discrimination
employment policy.

EERELEIER @

& 8 422K

REBFE  RANZBEEDUNF ML - B
BHFER BMBI6A(L—FE:378)2
BEEB - ABEEBHHR03BI(LE—FF:
0.48:1) » I REANERE - BEMARMELRENE
BERER L AR -

KPI Number of employees
BREARER EEA"

Relevant Year Previous Year

EREE F—FE

Gender 45l
Female 7 10 12
Male EX) s 26 25
Age Group FEe 4R
Under 30 years old 30T 8 8
31 to 50 years old 31 £505% 17 18
Above 51 years old 518 11 1

Employee Turnover
During the Relevant Year, our employee turnover rate was 18%
(Previous Year: 7%).

EBEMRKIBNR
REBFE  HANEERAERAE18%(LE—F
€ :7%)

KPI No. of People Turnover Rate
HREARER A Pk =

Relevant Year

Previous Year Relevant Year Previous Year

BEFE E—FE EREE EF—FE
By Gender b4 ]|
Female i 1 1 9% 17%
Male B 7 1 21% 5%
By Age Group REREAR
Under 30 years old 30mIA T 1 1 11% 25%
31-50 years old 312507 6 1 26% 7%
Above 51 years old 51 A 1 0 8% 0%
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R HERERERS

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
(Continued)

Employee Health and Safety

We comply with the Work Injury Compensation Act (Cap. 354) and
the Workplace Safety and Health Act (Cap. 354A), which govern
health and safety of employees in Singapore.

Our operations generally do not expose our employees to high-risk
work procedures. Nevertheless, we emphasise and encourage our
employees to be vigilant and responsible for their safety and health
whilst performing their work obligations. With constant reminders and
top-down emphasis, we endeavour to provide our employees with a
safe and healthy working environment. In addition, employees are
required to report all accidents to ensure proper medical treatment
and safety precautions to prevent future recurrence.

Our comprehensive workplace safety health system is certified to
BizSAFE Level 3 by the Workplace Safety and Health Council of
Singapore.

During the Relevant Year, there were no work-related fatalities or
serious injuries which resulted in, and no days were lost due to,
stop-work order issued by MOM. We did not find any health and
safety irregularities at our office and factory.

Development and Training

We generally hire employees with working experience relevant for
their assigned tasks hence minimal training, if any, is required. The
assigned tasks are repetitive in nature and therefore our employees
generally do not require training updates.

We encourage employees to develop or upgrade their skill sets if they
choose to do so. We would fund the cost and/or provide study leave
on a case by case basis. During the Relevant Year, no requests were
received from employees.

Our directors and senior managers continuously develop their
management knowledge and/or professional skills by attending
training courses, reading relevant materials, and participating in
conferences and exhibitions.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B - HERERERS

OPERATION MANAGEMENT

Supply Chain Management

Supply chain management is a key area of our business, which
includes managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
We require suppliers to provide products which are FSC-certified to
ensure compliance with environmental laws and regulations.

We procure products based upon specification, quality, price and
applicable environmental considerations. For all new and existing
suppliers, we regularly visit their production facilities to witness their
operations and to check against our required specifications of the
products. During our visits, we also inquire on their environmental and
social practices, and if available, obtain a copy of their environmental
and social reports.

Our supply chain management policies and procedures include
assessment, selection, approval, procurement and performance
evaluation. Performance evaluation is based on capacity, delivery
accuracy and punctuality, service, environmental protection and
social responsibilities.

During the Relevant Year, our major suppliers are from ASEAN (2)
and China (1).

ANTI-CORRUPTION

We prohibit employees from receiving any advantages offered by
customers, suppliers, colleagues, or other parties, while they are
performing employee duties, and prohibit any activities involving
conflicts of interest, bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.
Our staff handbook lays out the Group’s expectation and guiding
provisions on code of conduct. We require employees and we
encourage customers, suppliers, or other parties to report incidents
relating to any conflicts of interest, extortion, bribery, fraud and money
laundering.

We provide publications on anti-corruption practices to our directors
and senior management personnel annually, particularly before Lunar
New Year when it is common practice for the exchanges of gifts.

During the Relevant Year, there were no reports of non-compliance
incidents in relation to corruption.
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R HERERERS

CARING FOR THE COMMUNITY

EEHE

We endeavour to support the communities in which we operate by — FH{f1:E18 TR P LT RS - AHIE
understanding their needs. We focus on the hygiene aspects of % o HFIRT R FIFTEM & B 28 SR 8T

charitable organisations in our community.

EEH-o

We donate our products principally to charities as and when they  BfiF BEZEEHIER Y BEGRMESR -

request.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE Rif - #HE2RERART RS

CONTENT INDEX

This report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Guide. The  ARIRE BIREEE & LERIEIGEE - TX
following table provides an overview on the general disclosures and  #iliig5| & T B EHBBE T~ T REEA — AR FE KX
KPIs of various aspects under each subject area, which are either B ENIEIE - WE I HEEH2R 2 SR
cross-referenced to the relevant chapters or supplemented with 585N ERHETE ©

additional information.

Description Reference Remark
it 2R it
ENVIRONMENTAL
B
Aspect A1: EMISSIONS
EEA: #BY
General Disclosure Information on: (@) the policies; and (b) compliance  Protecting the Environment
—-REE with relevant laws and regulations; that have a — emission control; waste
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and management; green office
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water measures
and land, and generation of hazardous and RERSE — HERUES BEMERE
non-hazardous waste BERAERE
BHBERKRERBIR - MRS
AENBEEEMNELSS  QBX: Kk
L) EFHETABEAZENRBEER
GikEokve
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective Emission Control
BEERIEEAL emissions data HERE
B AR R
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Emission Control
BEERIEEAL2 greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, el
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)
B (BE1) ReRRE (BE2) R ERBHNE
(ARS8 R (i@ R) B R (A BE S B -
BEFEHE)
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, N/A We do not generate hazardous
BRENEEALS where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of TR waste in our operations
production volume, per facility) RMNBEYEELBEREY
FESEEEENRE (UEAE) R (0ER)
TR (WABESEN - BEREHE)
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Waste Management
BRENEEALL and, where appropriate, intensity (.g. per unitof ~ EE¥IEIE

production volume, per facility)
FMELEEEZYSE OB E) & (nEa)
TE(WABESEN - BERMEHE)

30 SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERRSE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE I&i§
CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

- HERERRNBES (@)

Description Reference Remark
g 2R et
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps Emission Control
BREREEALS taken to achieve them PR

HRPTET M HERE AR R AERIE L B R

R AR

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous ~ Waste Management
BRENEEALG wastes are handled, and a description of BEYER

reduction target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them

HREEBEERESRENN L - R
SRR E B R AEREL B SRR
B

Aspect A2: USE OF RESOURCES

BEA2: ERER
General Disclosure

—REE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials

Protecting the Environment
—green office measures

BUERER(BEER  KREMRITE) RERE — BEHLERE
B
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type Resources Consumption
BRENEEA21 (e.g. electricity, gas or ol in total (kWh in’000s) &R H#E
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility)
RENESNERR/SMEER(WE - F3H)
ERE ATETRRAE) RERE (ASERS
By - BERMTHE)
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per Resources Consumption
BRENEEA2.2 unit of production volume, per facilty) BB
BRKERTE(MAGEREN - BEREHE)
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set Green Office Measures
BRENEEA23 and steps taken to achieve them BERRERE
HAPTET I MEERE AN B R AETIEL
B AR A5
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue Green Office Measures
BRENEEA24 in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, BERNEER
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them
i SREGE AKR LR B RERE - AR
UMK R B R R RENEL B R
RERA R
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products ~ Waste Management
BRENEEAS (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to BEhER

per unit produced
Bk mT AR s R 22
BEEEMAE

(ANEEHE) B (Wi )
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE R - t8RERART RS @)

CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

Description

R

Reference

28

Remark

i

Aspect A3: THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES
EEA3 : RERRARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant

Protecting the Environment

—RiEE impacts on the environment and natural resources R ERE
REBTAHRERRABRENEATEN
R
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities Green Office Measures
BRENERZAS on the environment and natural resources and FERRERE

the actions taken to manage them
ML EBEDERERARERNEATER
ERNEREBY N7

Aspect A4: CLIMATE CHANGE
EEA4: RIZEL

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant

Climate Change

-z climate-related issues which have impacted, RIFEL
and those which may impact, the issuer
R REHELRAESHRITAEELEN
EAREIEHEEOHR
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues  Climate Change
BRENEZAL which have impacted, and those which RIREY

may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken
to manage them

EREERAR e HETAEEYZNELRR
HBEREE  REHTH

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

ERRZIER
Aspect B1: EMPLOYMENT
E@EB1: EfR
General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance ~ Employment and Labour
—-REE with relevant laws and regulations that have a Practices— employment
significant impact on the issuer; relating to standards and well being
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and ERRATIEH — EREAR
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal =l
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare
BEHTMREE DRERES I8 KEERH-
TERE  Zit RERUAREMEREF
0 @B RO BETHETABEATE
MRBEERRNNER
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for Total workforce
BRENEEBIA example, full- or part-time), age group and EELH

geographical region.

RIER - RERL (M2BIRR)  FRAN R

EENMEEREH -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE R - HERERARTES| (®)
CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

Description Reference Remark
g 2R et
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group Employee turnover

BRENESBI2 and geographical region EET%%

RIER - FRARTLER D MEEREAL X

Aspect B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY
EBEB2: BEHEZZ

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance ~ Employment and Labour
-REE with relevant laws and regulations that have a Practices—employee
significant impact on the issuer; relating to health and safety
providing a safe working environment and ERRSBIEH — BEERRER

protecting employees from occupational hazards ZE
ARRMZ2TERGRRREEEB2BELES

) @HE RO ETHETARERTEN

BEERRROINER

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred ~ N/A None
BRENEEB2 in each of the past three years including TER &
the reporting year
BE=F (REESFE) BFRICHMAZR
b %
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work Injury N/A None
BRENEEB22 RAIGELTIERE @R it
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Employment and Labour
BRENEEB23 measures adopted, how they are implemented Practices— employee
and monitored health and safety
HRPTRANBERFET 28 - REBERT EERAIZHE - BERR
RERERE RZ%

Aspect B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
BEB3 : BRRE

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees” knowledge and Employment and Labour
-REE skills for discharging duties at work. Description Practices— development
of training activities and training

BRRMTRERTIERENABRIENIR - RRREIER — HERE
R V)

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender N/A We hire employees with relevant
BRENIEEBS. and employee category (e.g. senior management, & working experience.
middle management). BRERAREBIELSRNET

RURIREEER (NBRERE  PREEE)E
PORINEERDL, -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per N/A We hire employees with relevant
BRENEEBS.2 employee by gender and employee category TiEA working experience.
RURREBERNED  BREETKTIIN BMEAAGIEEIELRNET -
FHEY
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE R - t8RERART RS @)

CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

Description

R

Reference Remark

28 B

Aspect B4: LABOUR STANDARDS

[BMEB4 : $TEA
General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
—-REE with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer; relating to
preventing child and forced labour
BEMIEETARMATE : @BE : R0o)ETY
BIABERYENEREERARINER
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment
BRENEEB4 practices to avoid child and forced labour
s EEEN R EARRETIRRIST
KPI B4.2 Description of step taken to eliminate such
BRENEEB42 practices when discovered

HREERERERRBREBERTRRNLSR

Aspect B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

[EEBS : ftEHER

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social

-REE risks of the supply chain
ERHERNRERTERBEE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region
BRENIEEBS.1 R B S mitEEE e

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging
BRENEEBS.2 suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored
M ERRRRERNED  mARTERENN
HIEBEE - ARBRENNRNTRERDE

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify

BRENIEEBS3 environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored

HRARER R ERSERONRERL EARY
Eh - AREBRITRER

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote
BRENIEEBS.4 environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored
R B ERVRE RALBHR - URIEERITR
ERNE

34  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

Employment and Labour
Practices—employment
standards and well-being

EERSI®ER - EREAR
&7l

N/A We do not engage in child labour
TEA and forced labour.
BRI EEREIRRHST o

N/A We do not engage in child labour
TEHR and forced labour.
BV EEREIRAHSLT -

Supply Chain Management
HIERER

Supply Chain Management
HERER

Supply Chain Management
HIEHER

Supply Chain Management
HERER

Supply Chain Management
HERER
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RE - HERERRSE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

BiR - HEREAARRL @

Description Reference Remark
it 2R et
Aspect B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
EEB6: EREL
General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance ~ N/A Tissue is for one-time use and
—-REE with relevant laws and regulations that have TER immediate disposal. On its own,
a significant impact on the issuer; relating to it has negligible value and is
health and safety, advertising, labelling and generic in nature.
privacy matters relating to products and BERA-NEFRRVAEE -
services provided and methods of redress. HAGWOEEMN)  BBALE -
BEFREERARBORRERZS  ES
TERARBEEURBROTER « (@) BUK
RO ETHBITABEAY ENRREER
RBIAER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped N/A
BRENIEEBG.1 subject to recalls for safety and health reasons TER
BEFRERERLEHTARE REFIBHMA
EE B
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints ~ N/A
BRENIEEB6.2 received and how they are dealt with TEA
BEBREMRREORFHE ARELRZ
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and N/A
BRENIEEB6.3 protecting intellectual property rights TEA
il B BN ERGENED
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and N/A
BEENISEB64 recall procedures TEE
EREERTAEREDBLET
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and N/A
BRENIEEB6S privacy policies, how they are implemented TER

and monitored
R EEERRERALBECR - ARBBERTR

BRI
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R HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

BiE HEREARAABES®)

Description Reference Remark
gt 2R et
Aspect B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION
EEB7: RES
General Disclosure Information on (a) the policies; and (b) compliance Anti-Corruption
—-REE with relevant laws and regulations that have REBIE
a significant impact on the issuer; relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BEILEE 9% JEEROAZES : @HE
RO EFHBEITABERTRMOEREER
HBIEER o
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt ~— N/A None
BRENEEBT practices brought against the issuer or its TEHA i
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases
Fﬁ¢%ﬁﬁ¥ﬁAiﬁﬁé%ﬁﬁagﬁmﬁﬁ
FARMHNEE RFDER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Anti-Corruption
BEENIEEBRT.2 blowing procedures, how they are implemented R &5 T{F
and monitored
RS EERERER A RERR T RER
Palia
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided Anti-Corruption
BRENEEBTS to directors and staff REFIE

HimESRE IRANREFE

Aspect B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
EEBS: HERE
General Disclosure

—REE

Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities” interests

BEMMHEB2ERTBETAZEMEHRFZEMN
RREEBEDHELERMERZNHE

KPI B8.1
BRENIEEBS.

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport)

ETEREE (IYE  BRFE 4IFK
feRz -« stik - BBE)

KPI B8.2
BRENEEBRS.2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to
the focus area

EFIREMPAER(WeEIBR)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential for
efficient and effective management of our business to safeguard the
interest of our stakeholders and achieve the highest return for our
Shareholders. The Company’s corporate governance practices are
based on the principles and code provisions as set out in the CG
Code. The Company has adopted and complied with, where
applicable, the CG Code during the Relevant Year, to ensure that the
Group’s business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner, save for the deviation from
Code Provision C.2.1 as explained in the paragraph “Chairman and
Chief Executive”.

CORPORATE PURPOSE, STRATEGY AND
GOVERNANCE

Corporate Strategy, Business Model and Culture
The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in the
Board which assumes the responsibility of leadership and control of
the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Group by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Group.

The Board sets the Group’s purpose, establishes its values, and
formulates both short term and long-term strategies whilst ensuring
that these purpose, values, and strategies are aligned with the Group’s
corporate culture. All Directors promote the Group’s corporate culture
by acting with integrity and leading by example. The Board sets
directions for the Group to act lawfully, ethically, and responsibly to
instil and continually reinforce the Group’s corporate culture.

The Board also assumes the responsibilities for maintaining high
standard of corporate governance, including among others, reviewing
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, and
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The performance of the Group in the Relevant Year was in line with
the short term and long-term strategies formulated by the Board and
did not deviate from the Group’s purpose and established values. A
detailed discussion and analysis of the Group’s strategy to fulfil and
achieve its purpose are set out in section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

EEERESR
EEgHEERNEEEREYBERIGL EREE
BARBRHNERZ M ARRERZRSLRER
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BN RERER

R - EHRA LU
EEQRAAKEXBNERENE  BAEARE
REFAEENEME  THEAEEEREE
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il
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EESRTEENTE Y HEBER - LT
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E17% - UEER A AEENEEE - &
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EFQRFEKFEEER  HHEREEMNAX
REMERERBRRLES  REHMEEAR
BIRBITEREEEERNERLER
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CORPORATE PURPOSE, STRATEGY AND
GOVERNANCE (Continued)

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties. The Board assigned this responsibility to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee develops and puts in place policies and
practices to ensure compliance with the provisions of the CG Code,
for the training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and senior management, for the compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, etc.

During the Relevant Year, the Board has through the Audit Committee
reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance as well as the corporate governance report contained in
this annual report in the discharge of its corporate governance
functions, ensuring compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board has established the Board Committees with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with the Committees’
authority and duties. Details of the respective Committees’ terms of
reference are available at the respective websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Group are delegated to the executive Directors and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board for significant
transactions.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition, Succession and Evaluation

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised seven
Directors of which four are executive Directors and three are
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board
is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chua Liang Sie (Chairman)

Mr. Chua Liang Chui

Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao)
Mr. Chua Wenjie (alias Cai Wenijie)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie

Mr. Tog Chek Soon

Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Composition, Succession and Evaluation
(Continued)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual
report.

The family relationship between the Directors (where applicable) are
set out under the respective names of the Directors in the section
headed “Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms” of this annual
report. Save for such relationship disclosed in the section headed
“Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms” of this annual report,
there is no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among the members of the Board.

Throughout the Relevant Year and to the date of this report, the
Board at all times met the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors, accounting for at least one-third of the Board,
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

At the end of the Relevant Year, none of the independent non-
executive Directors have served for more than 9 years.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Board
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent and meet the requirements set out in Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

Roles and Responsibility of the Board

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group,
which includes controlling resources allocation within the Group and
leading the Group to strive for success. It oversees the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions, internal control, risk management
and performances.

The management team is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the daily management of the Group.
The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board
to the management include (1) the preparation of quarterly, interim
and annual reports and announcements for the Board’s approval
before publishing; (2) implementation of adequate systems of internal
controls and risk management procedures; and (3) compliance with
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Roles and Responsibility of the Board (Continued)

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate
corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s
circumstances and to ensure processes and procedures are in place
to achieve the Company’s corporate governance objectives.

Board/Board Committee Meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Company, and to
review and approve the Company’s quarterly, interim and annual
results. During these meetings, the Board also evaluates its own
performance, including but not limited to, ensuring that each Director
had been devoting sufficient time and made contributions to the
Company that are commensurate with their respective roles and
responsibilities on the Board and committees. Regular Board
meetings for each year are scheduled in advance to facilitate
maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice is given
for a regular Board meeting. All Directors are given an opportunity to
include matters for discussion in the agenda, and to attend the
meeting in person or virtually. The company secretary assists the
Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings to comply with all
applicable rules and regulations. The agenda and the accompanying
board papers are normally sent to Directors at least three days before
the intended date of a Board meeting. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting are circulated to Directors for their comment before being
tabled at the next Board meeting for approval. The minutes are kept
by the company secretary and are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

To ensure independent views and inputs are available to the Board,
each Director is authorised to seek independent professional advice
at the Company’s expenses without any recourse whatsoever and
such advice may be tabled in a meeting without any restrictions. The
implementation and effectiveness of this mechanism is reviewed by
the Board annually. The Board reviewed this mechanism in the
Relevant Year and considered that the mechanism remains effective.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) BEEgwm
Attendance Records of Directors and Committee EENTEERNELFE LRI

Members

The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Committee REBFERNZESTHEFEEETeRETEeeHN
meetings and at the AGM during the Relevant Year are as follows: MR BERGH IR T

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend
HE/ AERERERNAR

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Director Board Committee Committee Committee AGM
2 EZg ENZES FMHEEE REZEE RRAFAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chua Liang Sie BERBEL 44 NATER 11 11 11
Mr. Chua Liang Chui BERPRE 4/4  N/ATER N/ATER N/A i 1/1
Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao) £ 30455 4 44 NATER NATER  NATER 11
Mr. Chua Wenijie (alias Cai Wenjie) 2 XA %k4E 44 NATER NATER  NATER 11
Independent non-executive BUFHITES

Directors
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie BENREE 4/4 4/4 1 11 1/1
Mr. Tog Chek Soon mElEL4E 4/4 4/4 1/1 11 1/1
Ms. Lye Kneng Joke Sylvia RIRER L 4/4 4/4 NATER  NATER 11
Total meeting(s) held during the REBFERNETH

Relevant Year SHBH 4 4 1 1 1

2024 F3R/ BX (1977) ZERBERA2F 41



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
NI TR \Aiﬁd:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Appointments, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association and the
nomination policy of the Company. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors based on the nomination policy and Board diversity
policy. Details of the Company’s nomination policy is set out in the
section headed “Nomination Committee” of this report.

At the point of acceptance of appointment, each Director was able to
give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.

The executive Directors have entered into service agreements with
the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date and/or the appointment date, respectively and will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing sent by either party to the other.

Directors’ Training and Continuing Professional
Development

Each of the Directors has received a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of the Director’s
responsibilities under statute and common law, the GEM Listing
Rules, other legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s
business and governance policies.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ Training and Continuing Professional
Development (Continued)

Directors are aware of Code Provision C.1.4 regarding continuing
professional development programme for directors. Every director is
required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a Director and of
the conduct, business activities and development of the Company.

During the Relevant Year, all the Directors, namely Mr. LS Chua, Mr.
LC Chua, Mr. WH Chua, Mr. WJ Chua, Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie,
Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia and Mr. Tog Chek Soon have continued
their professional development by attending conferences and/or
internal training as regards corporate governance, laws, regulations
and the GEM Listing Rules, and/or reading materials in the above
areas and materials relevant to their duties, responsibilities and the
Group’s business in order to develop, refresh and update their
knowledge and skills.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. LS Chua is our Chairman and
also the chief executive officer of our Company. Since February 1990,
Mr. LS Chua has been the key leadership figure of our Group who
has been primarily involved in the formulation of business strategies
and determination of the overall direction of our Group. He is also
responsible for overseeing our Group’s operations and directly
supervises our senior management. Having considered that () Mr. LS
Chua’s contribution and familiarity with the operations of our Group
which is beneficial to the management and business development of
our Group, (i) major decisions are made in consultation with members
of the Board and relevant Board committees, and (i) there are three
independent non-executive Directors on our Board offering
independent perspectives, our Board is of the view that there is an
appropriate balance of powers and authorities between our Board
and the management of our Company and that it is in the interest of
our Group to have Mr. LS Chua to continue taking up both roles. Our
Board will continue to review and consider separation of the roles of
the Chairman and the chief executive officer as and when appropriate
by taking into account the circumstances of our Group as a whole.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Non-executive Directors are appointed for an initial term of three
years subject to termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in
the relevant letters of appointment.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by three Board Committees. Each Committee
has its defined scope of duties and terms of reference and the
Committee members are empowered to make decisions on matters
within their respective terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

We have established an Audit Committee on 21.3.2018 in compliance
with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of our
Audit Committee include (i) making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and removal of external auditors; (ii) reviewing
and supervising the financial statements and material advice in
respect of financial reporting; (iii) overseeing internal control
procedures and corporate governance of our Company; and (iv)
supervising internal control and risk management systems of our
Group. At the end of the Relevant Year, the Audit Committee consists
of three members comprising all independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie, Mr. Tog Chek Soon
and Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia (chairlady of Audit Committee).
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the Relevant Year. A

summary of the work of the Audit Committee during the Relevant

Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group;

reviewed the financial statements, quarterly, interim and annual
reports as well as significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them;

(i) reviewed and monitored the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity, and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards, and (ii)
discussed with the independent auditor before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
reporting obligation;

reviewed the risk management and internal control systems of
the Company and its subsidiaries; and

provided recommendations to the Board for the proposal for
reappointment of the independent auditor of the Company and
approval of the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
independent auditor.

The Board has not taken any different view from that of the Audit

Committee regarding the re-appointment of the independent auditor.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in

the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and Committee

Members” of this report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

We have established a Remuneration Committee on 21.3.2018 in
compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of our Remuneration Committee include (i) reviewing and
making recommendations to our Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior management
of our Group; (ii) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; (iii) reviewing other remuneration-related matters,
including benefits-in-kind and other compensation payable to our
Directors and senior management; and (iv) reviewing performance
based remunerations and establishing a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policies. At the end of the
Relevant Year, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
members comprising an executive Director Mr. LS Chua and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng Boon Cheow
Freddie (chairman of Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Tog Chek
Soon.

The Group’s remuneration policy is structured to attract and retain
high quality staff and to enable smooth operation. The Group offered
competitive remuneration packages which considered factors such
as corporate result, individual capability and performance, salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities
and employment conditions. The remuneration packages are subject
to review on a regular basis.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
eligible persons, details are set out under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” of this annual report.

Independent non-executive Directors receive an agreed fixed fee.
Their remuneration does not include any equity-based element (such
as share option scheme) nor any performance-related element.

During the Relevant Year, the Remuneration Committee held a
meeting to review, among others, assess the performance and
remuneration package of the executive Directors and senior
management.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The remuneration payable to the members of the senior management
depends on their employment contracts and includes basic salary
and performance bonus. Pursuant to paragraph E.1.5 of the CG
Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than the Directors) by band for the Relevant Year is set out
below:

A8 5l

Remuneration band

FHEEE @

A S AR R B O H AR LB A4 - A
BEERTERRRMLMA - RIELEEATAE
E1.68  REBFEERFMERNES 2 SREE
B (EERID) FMBRIIMT -

Number of individuals A &

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

£ % 1,000,000 7T

The remuneration payable to the Directors depends on their
respective contractual terms under the service contracts or the
appointment letters (as the case may be), and as recommended by
the Remuneration Committee, taking into account the Group’s
operating results, market competitiveness, individual performance
and achievement. Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the
Relevant Year are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is
set out in the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and
Committee Members” of this report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

We have established a Nomination Committee on 21.3.2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3.1 of the
CG Code. The primary duties of our Nomination Committee are to (j)
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board on
a regular basis; (i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members; (jii) assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; (iv) make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors; and (v) make recommendations to our Board regarding the
candidates to fill vacancies on our Board. At the end of the Relevant
Year, the Nomination Committee consists of three members
comprising an executive Director Mr. LS Chua (chairman of
Nomination Committee) and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie and Mr. Tog Chek
Soon.

2,000,001 7T % 2,500,000 7 7T
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the Relevant Year, the Nomination Committee held a meeting
to review, among others, the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board in accordance with the Board diversity policy
and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of the Directors based on the nomination policy and
succession planning for Directors; and assessing the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and concluded that
members of the Board possessed the expertise and independence to
carry out the Board’s functions and responsibilities.

The Company adopted a nomination policy in compliance with the
CG Code, which establishes written guidelines to the Nomination
Committee to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships with reference to the
formulated criteria stated below:

° Reputation and integrity of the candidate;
° Accomplishment and experience;
° Commitment in terms of time and interest;

° Gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

° Potential contribution to board diversity;

° Independence with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the GEM Listing Rules if the candidate is nominated
as an independent non-executive Director; and

° Number of directorships in other listed/public companies if the
candidate is nominated as an independent non-executive
Director.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Below are the nomination procedure and process:

° The evaluation, recommendation, nomination, selection and
appointment or re-appointment of each proposed Director shall
be assessed and considered by the Nomination Committee and
the Board against the selection criteria and the Board Diversity
Policy.

° In the appointment of a proposed Director, the Nomination
Committee shall evaluate the candidate’s eligibility based on the
selection criteria. If multiple candidates are involved, the
Nomination Committee shall prioritize them according to the
Company’s needs and the candidates’ respective qualification.

° In the re-appointment of a Director at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company, the Nomination Committee
shall review the overall contributions of the Director, such as the
Director’s service, participation and performance in the Board,
and whether the Director still meets the selection criteria.

The Board will review the policy from time to time.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set
out in the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and
Committee Members” of this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choy Tuck Leong is the company secretary as appointed
pursuant to Rule 5.14 of the GEM Listing Rules. The biographical
details of Mr. Choy is set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management Profile” of this annual report.

The company secretary supports the Board by ensuring timely
information flow to and within the Board, and monitoring adherence
to Board policies and procedures, including the training and
continuous professional development of Directors. The company
secretary also guides the Board on corporate governance matters
and facilitate the induction of new Directors. The company secretary
has attained not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
for the Relevant Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Required Standard of Dealings.

Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all the Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the Required Standard of
Dealings during the Relevant Year.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Directors are also responsible for ensuring that (i)
appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
(i) judgements and estimates made are prudent and reasonable; and
(iii) statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards have
been adopted and complied with.

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Directors confirm that to the best
of their knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors have prepared the financial statements for the Relevant
Year on a going-concern basis. The financial statements for the
Relevant Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and
audited by the independent auditor, Foo Kon Tan LLP (“FKT”). A
statement by the independent auditor about their reporting
responsibility is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s
Report” of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
The Company has an established risk framework under which it
identifies risks relevant to the operations and activities of the Group
(including material risks identified in the ESG Report), and assesses
these risks in relation to their likelihood and potential impacts. The
Group’s internal control system includes a well-defined management
structure with limits of authority, which is designed to achieve
business objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, ensure proper maintenance of books and records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or publication,
and ensure compliance with relevant legislations and regulations.
Such systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and aims to provide a
reasonable, as opposed to an absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Management reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems. In
the Relevant Year, there was no significant change to the Group’s
operations, the Group’s business, and the environment in which the
Group operated. The Group’s risk management and internal control
systems remain adequate and effective.

The Group’s internal audit department assists the Board and the
Audit Committee to assess the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems which covered all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls as
well as risk management functions during the Relevant Year. The
resulting assessment report was reviewed by the Audit Committee
and the Board. No major issue was raised for improvement. The
Board is satisfied with the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group’s whistleblowing policy (i) provides an avenue for
employees, vendors, customers and other stakeholders to raise
concerns in confidence and anonymity, particularly in relation to fraud,
controls or ethics, and (i) ensures such concerns are reported directly
to the Audit Committee. The Board was advised by the Audit
Committee that no reports of this nature were received during the
Relevant Year.

Anti-Corruption Policy

We prohibit employees from receiving any advantages offered by
customers, suppliers, colleagues, or other parties, while they are
performing employee duties, and prohibit any activities involving
conflicts of interest, bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.
Our staff handbook lays out the Group’s expectation and guiding
provisions on code of conduct. We require employees and we
encourage customers, suppliers, or other parties to report incidents
relating to any conflicts of interest, extortion, bribery, fraud and money
laundering. We provide publications on anti-corruption practices to
our directors and senior management personnel annually, particularly
before Lunar New Year when it is common practice for the exchanges
of gifts. During the Relevant Year, there were no reports of non-
compliance incidents in relation to corruption.

EREERAIPEE (@)

EERERNEEENERZEeREAREER
NEEZERSNERL - REMEFE - AEEH
gE AEENEBRARENKERRLES
REL o ZNE[E ) L B T2 A A R% ) JR D A
FEREH -

SEABEZAPIRESTE REFTZEGTR
AEENFERFE 2RBREERRAREZENEZ
BRR G REMBERER  BREME  2ENA
MEE  URRAREEZIE - BRZZEER
EXSCRMAGERS - MERRENEEFTE
HOE - EEE B A S AR ETE N A AR S bl
JE 2 BRA o

MR

SENERBROAEL  HER  FPHM
MEBEARMT —EURBENEZHF AIRE
SEERERTE - BRI R EEE - ERSGERERN
RERE - DA K (i) FEOR A e JE AR B B K RS AR AT AP
FZEg  ERZESSHEZTS  RNEBEFE
WA BRI E RS

REIFHR

HMELRERBETHEHBBEWIEP,  HE
B FAESEMATRENFE - WEIEEMY
LA@ER - B BR RFRARENE
o BTFMINAREEETAHENTEOHE
RIESIEX - HAPBERKEEYZBEFS - HHER
FEMALTRBESREANEZER R B
B BEFMLRENEY HPEBFRESENG
REBABRKABERESTENLERY - £
THERBHE AN ERXBEMNTE LML -
RERFE  BEZEBAESHERFMHERS

2024 F3R/ BX (1977) ZERAER2F 51



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
NI TR \Aiﬁd:

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Disclosure of Inside Information

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
GEM Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision.
The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the GEM Listing Rules as well as
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published
by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong in
June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so
that only the executive Directors, the company secretary and
investor relations officers are authorised to communicate with
parties outside the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND AUDITOR
RELATED MATTERS

FKT was re-appointed as the independent auditor of the Company
with effect from 2.2.2024 to hold office until the conclusion of the
next AGM.

For the Relevant Year, FKT received $50,000 (2023: $42,000) for
audit service and $6,000 (2023: $19,250) for non-audit service in
connection with tax advisory service mainly in relation to recovery of
tax paid in prior years arising from tax incentives received after the
payment of tax.
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DIVERSITY

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board as an essential element to improving governance and
performance, and to creating a competitive advantage. In designing
the Board’s composition, board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, and
professional experience. Directors are appointed based on merit, with
Board diversity in mind, to create an effective Board.

The following measurable objectives are applied to implement our
Board Diversity Policy:

° A minimum of one female Director.

° A minimum of one Director between the age groups of below
50, and above 51.

° A minimum of one Director with experience in each of the fields
of finance, marketing and production.

The table below shows the diversity of the Board at the end of the
Relevant Year. The Company has achieved the targets set out in its
Board Diversity Policy, including gender diversity.
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Male Female <50 >51 Finance Marketing | Production
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No. of Directors
YN 6 1 2 5 2 3 2

The Board and the Nomination Committee review the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy annually, and
considered that the policy remains effective in the Relevant Year. To
maintain Board gender diversity, the Company prepares for
successors by training female executives within the Group and by
external outsourcing from recruitment agencies and The Singapore
Institute of Directors.
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DIVERSITY (Continued)

Workforce Gender Diversity

The table below shows the gender ratio of the workforce, including
executive directors and senior management, at the end of the
Relevant Year.

e | AC))

B TH4RIZ Tt
THRERBNEBEERE THMA(
ENEREE) BRI -

BRENTE

Female:Male ratio

ZHEE BB
Corporate office PERNE 1.2:1
Production & logistics HEEMYR 0.2:1
Total workforce BETHEH 0.4:1

The low female ratio is typical in a manufacturing industry.

We do not set a specific gender diversity target as we hire based on
specific qualification or skillset required from time to time. We also
face the challenge of hiring females to work in an industrial area far
from city centre.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any Shareholder(s) holding at
the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall have the right to submit a
written requisition requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board. The written requisition (i) must state the
purpose(s) of the extraordinary general meeting, and (ii) must be
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited at the registered office of
the Company for attention of the company secretary, and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionist(s). Such requisitions will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the company secretary will ask
the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting by serving
sufficient notice to all shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition
has been verified as not in order, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, the extraordinary general meeting will
not be convened as requested.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting
(Continued)

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the extraordinary general
meeting, the requisitionist(s) or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them may convene an
extraordinary general meeting, but any extraordinary general meeting
S0 convened shall not be held after expiration of two months from the
said date of deposit of the requisition. An extraordinary general
meeting convened by the requisitionist(s) shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in any extraordinary
general meeting to be convened by the Board.

Right to Put Forward Proposals at General Meeting
To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a
Shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal with
his/her detailed contact information at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Board will be asked to include the proposal in the
agenda for the general meeting.

Right to Make Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns, in written form,
to the Board by addressing them to the company secretary at 31/F.,
148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong. Shareholders may also
make enquiries to the Board at the general meeting of the Company.
In addition, Shareholders can contact Boardroom Share Registrars
(HK) Limited, the branch share registrar of the Company in Hong
Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings and
entitlements to dividend.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
NI TR \Aiﬁd:

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to the
Shareholders to be its goal. In deciding whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall
take into account, inter alia:

° the general financial condition of the Group;

° the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity position;

° the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

° the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

° the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

° the Shareholders’ and the investors expectation and industry’s
norm;

o the general market conditions; and

° any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
Declaration of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Memorandum
and Articles of Association and any applicable laws, rules and

regulations (including but not limited to the GEM Listing Rules).

The Board will review the policy from time to time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining effective communication with
the investment industry is crucial to having a deeper understanding of
the Company’s business and its development among investors. To
achieve this goal and increase transparency, the Company will
continue to adopt proactive measures to foster better investor
relations and communications. As such, the purpose for the
Company to formulate investor relations policies is to let investors
have access to the information of the Group in a fair and timely
manner, so that they can make an informed decision.

We welcome investors to write to the Company or send their enquiries
to the Company’s email of investor_relation@sunlightpaper.com.sg to
share their opinions with the Board. The Company’s website also
discloses the latest business information of the Group to investors
and the public.

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
measures relating to shareholders’ communication and considered
them to be effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In the Annual General Meeting held on 8.2.2023, the amendments to
the Articles of Association were approved. Details of the amendments
were stated in the circular dated 29.12.2022. The amended and
restated Articles of Association are posted on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company communicates with Shareholders and investors mainly
in the following ways:

(i) convening general meetings at least once a financial year
whereby Shareholders and investors could communicate
directly with the Board;

(i)  publishing quarterly, interim and annual reports, announcements
and/or circulars as required under the GEM Listing Rules and/
or press releases to provide updated information on the Group;
and

(i) updating the Company’s website with the latest information on
the Group.

The Company acknowledges that general meeting is a good
communication channel with Shareholders. The Directors and the
members of the Board committees are encouraged to attend and
answer questions raised by Shareholders at general meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
NI TR \Aiﬁd:

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

The Company has adopted its shareholder communication policy to
enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
and to allow Shareholders and investors to strengthen communication
with the Company. The Company is committed to promoting and
maintaining effective communication with Shareholders and other
stakeholders. The Board is committed to ensuring that Shareholders
are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company. The Group will
continuously ensure the effectiveness and timeliness of information
disclosure to Shareholders and investors.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

In order to maintain a clear delineation of the businesses between our
Group and our Controlling Shareholders, the latter have entered into
the Deed of Non-competition in favour of our Company (for ourselves
and as trustee for each of our subsidiaries from time to time) to the
effect that each of them will not, and will procure each of their
respective close associates not to, directly or indirectly participate in,
or hold any right or interest, or otherwise be involved in any business
which may be in competition with our businesses.

For details of the Deed of Non-competition, please refer to the section
headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders — Deed of
Non-competition” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received a written confirmation from the Controlling
Shareholders that they have complied with the terms of the Deed of
Non-Competition during the Relevant Year. The independent non-
executive Directors have also reviewed the status of compliance and
written confirmation from the Controlling Shareholders, and noted
that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have
been complied with by each of the Controlling Shareholders during
the Relevant Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended
30.9.2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group is principally engaged in the supply of tissue products to
corporate customers in Singapore. Further discussion and analysis of
these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance, including a performance analysis using financial key
performance indicators and an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business, can be found in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Details
of the principal risks and uncertainties of the Group can be found in
the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
of this annual report and details of the financial risk management are
set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements which
form part of this report.

During the Relevant Year, the Company was not aware of any non-
compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on it. The Board has not identified any material
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
Relevant Year.

The Group is committed to nurturing its staff to care about and
protect the environment. It conducts its business in a manner that
balances the environment and economic needs. The Group complies
with all relevant environment regulations. It works with its partners
including customers and suppliers in a concerted effort to operate in
an environmentally responsible manner by making concerted efforts
to be energy-efficient and to practise “Reduce, Reuse and Recycle”.

Among others, the Group has taken the following initiatives:
° recycles printed paper and production tissue paper; and

° installation of low-energy LED lighting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance
are disclosed in the section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” of this annual report.

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development and therefore we
obtain and understand the views of our stakeholders regularly. This
communication provides valuable feedback for our business and
assists us to understand stakeholders’ needs and assess the best
way to leverage our resources and expertise to contribute to future
business and community development. Across the supply chain, we
have taken steps throughout the Relevant Year to ensure that we
operate responsibly and in the interests of our customers, workforce,
suppliers and other stakeholders.

Our employees are valuable assets and our success is underpinned
by our people. We provide attractive remuneration packages, and a
fair and harmonious working environment to safeguard the legitimate
rights and interests of our employees. Our human resource policies
outline our compensation, working hours, rest periods and other
benefits and welfare, which comply with laws and regulations. We
attract qualified applicants by offering competitive remuneration
packages based on prevailing market conditions. None of the
Group’s employees is represented by any collective bargaining
agreement or labour union. The Group has not experienced any
significant problem with its employees or disruption to its operations
due to labour dispute, nor has the Group experienced any difficulties
in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff. We endeavour
to create a workplace based on respect for human rights and where
our employees are free to practise their beliefs and preferences.

During the Relevant Year, the Group maintained good relationship
with its customers and generally maintained a high retention rate with
the existing customers to keep abreast of market development and
potential business opportunities.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

The Group has maintained stable and long-established business
relationships with its major suppliers. We do not foresee any difficulty
in procurement nor experienced any production disruption.

We endeavour to support the communities in which we operate by
understanding their needs. We focus on the hygiene aspects of
charitable organisations in our community.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the Relevant Year is as follows:
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PIEEMIHERBEEZERNT

Percentage of the Group’s total

hHAEEEAHES L
Sales Purchases
HE BE
The largest customer RRKEP 18.0% -
Five largest customers in aggregate AAREF &R 45.0% -
The largest supplier =AM ER - 42.1%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate RAREER S ST - 89.9%

At no time during the Relevant Year have the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued Shares) had
any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Relevant Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in Shares during the Relevant Year are set
out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company did not redeem
any of its listed securities nor did the Company or any of its
subsidiaries purchase, or sell any of such securities during the
Relevant Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Company did not have reserves
available for cash distribution, calculated under the Companies Act of
the Cayman Islands, as it has accumulated losses. However, an
amount of $6.2m (Previous Year: $6.2m) in the Company’s share
premium account may be distributed as dividends provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to
be paid, the Company is able to pay its debts as and when they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Relevant Year are set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors and changes to their information, if any, during the
Relevant Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Chua Liang Sie (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Chua Liang Chui

Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao)

Chua Wenijie (alias Cai Wenijie)

Independent non-executive Directors
Ng Boon Cheow, Freddie

Tog Chek Soon

Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. LS Chua, Mr. LC
Chua and Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie shall retire at the forthcoming
AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing on the
Listing Date and/or the appointment date, respectively and will
continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with the terms of
the service agreement. Independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for a term of three years from their respective dates of
appointment and will continue thereafter unless terminated by either
party giving at least three months’ notice in writing.

None of the Directors who is proposed for re-election has a service
contract with the Company not terminable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual report.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the Relevant Year, so far as the Directors are aware, none of
the Directors and Controlling Shareholders, neither themselves nor
their respective close associates, had held any position or had
interests in any businesses or companies that were materially
competing or might materially compete with the business of the
Group, or gave rise to any concern regarding conflict of interest.

ACHIEVEMENT OF USE OF PROCEEDS AND
BUSINESS OBJECTIVES

Net proceeds from the Share Offer of $4.6 million were fully utilized by
30.9.2022. Details of the comparison of business objective with
actual business progress are discussed in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EERFETHRAERARATNAE
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE {AtHEEZE MR G - HER GO R &
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND BENERER KRB

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at the end of the Relevant Year, interests or short positions of the REBEEXR » RAREZ N TBITHRAERK
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, A& E(FAAEEZE(EE R B4 RS ED
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its  EXVER) ik - MG REEES  HEE
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as R8N REE 5 R HI G IR0 E 352 15 BEE &
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the 32 » LR 1B GEM 1 #R B 5 5.46 & 5.67 5 41
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock @A QF REZFAMERSARNT -
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules,

were as follows:

() Long positions in the Shares: () RIRMDELTE :
Number of
underlying Percentage of
Number of Sharesheld  Total number the total
Shares held under equity of Shares  issued Shares
Name Capacity Nature of interests (Note 1) derivatives interested (%)
MRALTE HERTRHG
FiEROHE  IEMEER BEERN aER
BE 5% BEME (1) REGEE ROEH (%)
Mr. Chua Liang Sie (Note 2) A concert party to an agreement Corporate interest 552,000,000 (L) - 552,000,000 69
ERBLE () to buy shares described in AEER

s.317(1)(a) of the SFO
EHREEBROE317(1)) K
PR IR —HTBAL

Mr. Chua Liang Chui (Note 2) A concert party to an agreement Corporate interest 552,000,000 (L) - 552,000,000 69
ERPRAE(E2) to buy shares described in AEER

s.317(1)(a) of the SFO
EHREEBROE317(1)) K
PR IR —HTBAL
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)

(i)  Long position in the shares of YJH Group
Limited — an associated corporation of the
Company

EERFTETHRAEREQFTRE
fAEBEENRS - ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ&%
BENERR KRR (s

(i)  FYJIH Group Limited (A2 &) 47
HP/j&_.)HXTﬁE}]éﬂF’

Number of  Approximate percentage

Name Capacity/Nature of interests shares held of the total issued shares
HERITRO LM

" B0 RmtE FrERGEA BHAED
Mr. Chua Liang Sie Beneficial owner/Personal interest 480,000 82.76%
BRENE EaEEA AR
Mr. Chua Liang Chui Beneficial owner/Personal interest 100,000 17.24%
BERPEE EamEAA AR

Notes: Bt 5

1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part 1.  F& [L] 83 A TRZERODH (T2 1(FE

XV of the SFO) in such Shares.

2. YJH Group Limited is owned as to approximately 82.76% by Mr. Chua
Liang Sie and 17.24% by Mr. Chua Liang Chui. Mr. Chua Liang Sie and
Mr. Chua Liang Chui were signatories of a concert parties agreement
dated 11.10.2017. As such, they were deemed as controlling YJH
Group Limited as a group and were deemed to have interests in the
Shares held by YJH Group Limited, respectively. For details, see
“History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — Concert parties
arrangement” in the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Relevant Year, none of
the Directors nor chief executive of the Company had registered an
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had been recorded
in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme, the details of
which are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
No share option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption. Therefore, no options were exercised or cancelled
or lapsed during the Relevant Year and there were no outstanding
options under the Share Option Scheme as at the end of the Relevant
Year. The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate
exceed 80,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
Save for the Share Option Scheme, at no time from the Listing Date
to the date of this report were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of
age, or were any such rights exercised by them, or was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at the end of the Relevant Year, other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company, the following persons/entities have an
interest or a short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares as
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO:
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Long position in the Shares: R EFE -
Number of Number of underlying Total number Percentage of
Shares held Shares held under of Shares  the total issued
Name Capacity Nature of interests (Note 1) equity derivatives interested Shares (%)
URALTE ERTRS
FEROEE IAREHEE BERERH aERst
i 5% EHME GES) RGEE REEH (%)
YJH Group Limited (Note 2) ~ Beneficial owner Personal interest 552,000,000 (L) - 552,000,000 69
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part
XV of the SFO) in such Shares.

2. YJH Group Limited is owned as to approximately 82.76% by Mr. Chua
Liang Sie and 17.24% by Mr. Chua Liang Chui. Mr. Chua Liang Sie and
Mr. Chua Liang Chui were signatories of a concert parties agreement
dated 11.10.2017. As such, they were deemed as controlling YJH
Group Limited as a group and were deemed to have interests in the
Shares held by YJH Group Limited, respectively. For details, see
“History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — Concert parties
arrangement” in the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Relevant Year and so
far as known to the Directors, no person/entity, other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests are set
out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and/or
Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company or any Associated Corporation” above, had notified the
Company of an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares which had been required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant Section 336 of the
SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

At the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
GEM Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

The Company has in place appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities. The relevant provisions of the Articles and the insurance
coverage are currently in force and were in force throughout the
Relevant Year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than a contract of service with any Director or any
person under the full employment of the Company, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the Relevant Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements (i) will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares; or (ii) require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares
were entered into by the Group during the Relevant Year or existed
as at the end of the Relevant Year.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts that are
significant in relation to the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries to which either the Company or any of its subsidiaries
were a party and in which a Director or his/her connected entity had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the Relevant Year or at any time during the Relevant Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance (whether for the provision of
services to the Group or not) in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which any Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Relevant Year or at any time during the Relevant Year.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee is set up by the Board to formulate a
remuneration policy for approval by the Board, which will take into
consideration factors such as corporate result, individual capability
and performance, salaries paid by comparable companies,
employment conditions, time commitment and responsibilities, and
individual performance of the Directors, senior management and the
general staff of the Company.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an incentive
to eligible participants.

During the Relevant Year, the Group contributed fully to the Central
Provident Fund (“CPF”) of Singapore and did not forfeit any CPF
contributions.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities. If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in or
exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to

consult their professional advisers.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group had no outstanding loans.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Summary of Financial Information”
in this annual report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group contributes to a defined contribution plan. The details are
set out under the sub-section headed “Employee benefits” in note
2(d) to the consolidated financial statements.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the Relevant Year, there was no connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules, which are required to comply with any of
the reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements.

During the Relevant Year, there were no related party transactions
other than key management personnel compensation as disclosed in
Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report, the Company had complied with the CG Code during the
Relevant Year. Details of the principal corporate governance practices
of our Group are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report.

The company secretary is Mr. Choy Tuck Leong who is also the
Company’s chief financial officer and his biographical details are set
out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile”
of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by Foo Kon Tan LLP, an
independent firm of Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
in Singapore, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward looking statements with respect to the
financial conditions, results of operations and business of the Group.
These forward looking statements represent the Company’s
expectations or beliefs concerning future events and involve known
and unknown risks and uncertainty that could cause actual results,
performance or events to differ materially from those expressed or
implied in such statements.

On behalf of the Board
Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited
Chua Liang Sie

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Singapore, 13.12.2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % EED R &

To the members of Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sunlight
(1977) Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30.9.2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 30.9.2024, and of the consolidated financial
performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash
flows of the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

FREEE X IR

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RIEEZEMNZFEHE @B BHRBEBZFEATENE
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated ~ Z ARG A MBEHRERTREENEIE - 55
financial statements of the current period. These matters were HERGESMGHRIBERGIER S REERIE
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial — |th%FE @ MASHHEEEEFHERER °
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BREELEE

Our responses and work performed

EEWEIERTETHIE

Revaluation of building on leasehold land
et FEEYERL

The Group carries its building on leasehold land at fair
value, with the change in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income. The Group engages a firm of
independent professional valuers to assess the fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The fair value
of the building on leasehold land is determined by the
independent professional valuers using recognised
valuation techniques. The technique applied is the
market approach, by making reference to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant market.
Significant judgement and estimates are required in the
valuation technique and inputs used to determine the
fair value of the building on leasehold land.
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72  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

Our procedures in relation to the revaluation of building on
leasehold land included:

° Assessing the methodologies and appropriateness of
the key assumptions used by the management’s expert;

° Understanding and reviewing the assumptions in the
input data from the management’s expert through
discussions, comparisons to industry peers and
independent external data sources, and agree to
supporting documentation; and

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the management’s expert.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREELEE

FAREZEE @

Our responses and work performed

EEWEIRRTETHIHE

Revaluation of building on leasehold land (Continued)

HELH FEEYEM ()

Fair value encompasses estimating the expected selling
prices of the underlying assets by identifying the
comparable assets and determining the current market
selling prices of these assets. Input inaccuracies or
inappropriate bases used to determine the fair value,
including the comparable assets used in the fair value
measurements, could result in material misstatement in
the consolidated financial statements.

AV EERBBASITELBREENEERSEENE
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The valuation technique and inputs to the revaluation of
building on leasehold land are disclosed in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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We involved an auditor’s expert to assist us in the above. We
evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
auditor’s expert, and the adequacy of the work performed by
the experts.

We also considered the adequacy of disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements, describing the
methodologies used, degree of subjectivity and key
assumptions used in the estimates.
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Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chin Sin Beng.

Foo Kon Tan LLP

A principal member firm of HLB International
Public Accountants and

Chartered Accountants

Singapore

13 December 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEe BRI R

at 30.9.2024
M 20249 A30H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Note $’000 $'000
BIsE Fx Tt
ASSETS BE
Non-Current Assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MK 3 14,482 14,080
Right-of-use assets EREEE 4 433 507
Software licences BT 5 30 43
14,945 14,630
Current Assets REEE
Inventories VER{ 6 1,094 985
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H A FE W IR 7 2,273 2,951
Prepayments SELRE ¢ 20 29
Cash and cash equivalents WERREEEY 8 3,453 1,722
6,840 5,687
Total assets EEHAE 21,785 20,317
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Capital and Reserves R AR
Share capital R AN 9 1,338 1,338
Reserves i 10 16,853 15,490
Total equity attributable to owners A& RQATEE A EIEREEALE
of the Company 18,191 16,828
Non-Current Liabilities FkREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEEE 11 1,427 1,160
Deferred capital grant IERE & A48 B 12 481 519
Lease liability HEAE 13 152 176
2,060 1,855
Current Liabilities REEE
Lease liability HEaE 13 26 26
Trade and other payables B 5 RHEMpENRIE 14 1,296 1,554
Current tax payable IR IE B & 212 54
1,534 1,634
Total liabilities BEHAE 3,594 3,489
Total equity and liabilities ERRAGHEE 21,785 20,317

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in

conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meaEmRkAtEZEKER

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
BZE 20249 A30 B LA BFE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Note $°000 $'000
B 5E Fr Fx
Revenue g 15 14,061 14,596
Cost of sales SHERA (9,257) (10,062)
Gross profit EF 4,804 4,534
Other income H AU A 16 111 70
Selling and distribution expenses $HE R Y (1,885) (1,744)
Administrative expenses THRAY (1,982) (1,961)
Other expenses Hipisx (2 (37)
Finance costs BERA 17 (10) (10)
Profit before taxation MRBE AT R 18 1,036 852
Taxation 18 20 (301) (202)
Profit for the year FREF 735 650
Other comprehensive income BEZEHEMEZEWE :
after tax:
Items that will not be reclassified HESTEEHIEZE
subsequently to profit or loss BENER
Revaluation of building on leasehold EEHEEL FEEY
land 757 (237)
Related tax ek (129) 40
Other comprehensive income for FREMEZEWE (BRBEZ)
the year, net of tax 628 (197)
Total comprehensive income AAREEAEGEFAZE
for the year attributable to Y s 4858
owners of the Company 1,363 453
Earnings per share AABEEAEEER
attributable to owners of the Z R (s AL)
Company (Singapore cent)
— Basic and diluted — EAREE 21 0.09 0.08

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in  BEMIHI 48K 2 ZE I TS RER A0 — 2B » W/BE L
conjunction with these financial statements. LR R — OB -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEREREER

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEHMBFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG 2PN
Share Share Merger Revaluation  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve earnings equity

BA  ROBE AHREE  ERRE  REERN ERAE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

i i T Fr T T
Balance at 1.10.2022 R202F1051AZE 1,338 6,221 580 5,476 2,760 16,375
Profit for the year ERET - - - - 650 650
Other comprehensive income FREMZERE
for the year
— Revaluation of building on - EMREL EBEN (RER)
leasehold land (net of tax) - - - (197) - (197)
Total comprehensive income FREANGAE
for the year - - - (197) 650 453
Balance at 30.9.2023 R2023F9A30AZES 1,338 6,221 580 5,279 3,410 16,828
Balance at 1.10.2023 R20BE10A 1B 2 &8 1338 6,221 580 5219 3410 16,828
Profit for the year FREF - - - - 735 735
Other comprehensive income FRE2EKE
for the year
— Revaluation of building on - SHBRELI EEEN (BE%)
leasehold land (net of tax) - - - 628 - 628
Total comprehensive income ER2ENEAE
for the year - - - 628 735 1,363
Balance at 30.9.2024 202459 530 B 2 84 1,338 6,221 580 5,907 4,145 18,191

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in & sF 40K 54 S B IR AR B — &R0 - W/B B %
conjunction with these financial statements. ER Bk — OB -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n N é iﬁa @ 3)2&, % %‘%
for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
Note $°000 $°000
iz Fr Tt
Cash Flows from Operating Activities REZE IENRERE
Profit before taxation R B A v ) 1,036 852
Adjustments for: BRATSIBELFAE
Amortisation of deferred capital grant R R A A4 B B 12 (36) (21)
Amortisation of software licences B R R B 5 13 14
Allowance for impairment loss on 2 5 R E M EWFIERE
trade and other receivables EiERHE 7 - 37
Depreciation of property, M BERERETE
plant and equipment 3 655 547
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBEENE 4 74 73
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BEMEERSS
plant and equipment 16 - (34)
Interest expense FMERHSE 17 10 10
Interest income FBUA 16 (42) (1)
Operating profit before working BEESBHHKEREAN
capital changes 1,710 1,477
Changes in inventories TR (109) 29
Changes in trade and other receivables B 5 N Eh e U s B 186 (226)
Change in prepayments AR RIBEES 9 49
Changes in trade and other payables B o5 M EMEMFIEE (258) 88
Cash generated from operations REXBRBRE 1,538 1,417
Income taxes (paid)/refunded (BRFIER), BRHREH () 140
Net cash generated from REEKMBRSTFE
operating activities 1,533 1,557
Cash Flows from Investing Activities REKREZTENRERE
Interest received B UF B 42 1
Government grant received lhe izt 490 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE  BENMRBITERIE
plant and equipment - 119
Purchase of property, BEYX  BENMERE
plant and equipment 3 (300) (719)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BREZEFRE (A RETE
investing activities 232 (599)
The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in  BEM M FEAERZ S IERETM — 201D - WAEHEZ

conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

= L= -
MERERER®

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEHMBFE

2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
Note $°000 $°000
(5 Fr Fr

Cash Flows from Financing Activites REREIBHNRLTE
Interest paid BEAFE (10) (10)
Repayment of borrowings BEER - ©)
Repayment of lease liability BETHEAE (24) (24)
Net cash used in financing activites &S EBARSTE (34) (43)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 314 BRI & S E WL %58 1,731 915

Cash and cash equivalents at FMRE MRS EEY

beginning of year 1,722 807
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRHE 4 RELEEY 8 3,453 1,722

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in
conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

= L= -
FERERER®

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

Reconciliation of Movements of Liabilities to Cash Flows Arising from Financing Activities

EESDURETHRELENRERENHIR

Bank loan Lease liability Total

RITENR HEEE @st

$'000 $'000 $000

T Fr T

(Note/ i £ 13)

Balance at 1.10.2022 R2022F10 A1 A 248 9 226 235
Changes from financing cash flows REWMERSRENED

— Repayment of borrowings — BN ©) - ©)

— Repayment of lease liability - BEHEaE - (24) (24)

— Interest paid — BRFE - (10 (10

Total changes from financing cash flows RERER ¢ RBHN S EHEE ) (34) (43)

Other changes Hit @5

— Interest expense — FMBER% - 10 10

Total liability-related other changes EEAE - BHMEBHEEH - 10 10

Balance at 30.9.2023 742023 9 A 30 B 2 &t4 - 202 202

Balance at 1.10.2023 742023510 1 B 2 &8 - 202 202
Changes from financing cash flows REMERSRENEE

— Repayment of lease liability - EBHERR - (24) (24)

— Interest paid — BEFE - (10) (10)

Total changes from financing cash flows KEFEREFBN S BHAE - (34) (34)

Other changes Hih#2 5

— Interest expense — FEHX - 10 10

Total liability-related other changes EESE - BEHAREEE - 10 10

Balance at 30.9.2024 1420249 A 30 B 2 &84 - 178 178
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

1

General Information

The consolidated financial statements of Sunlight (1977)
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the financial year ended 30.9.2024 were authorised
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on the
date of the Report of the Directors.

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 21.9.2017. The shares
of the Company were listed on GEM operated by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 16.4.2018.

The registered address of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The head office and principal place of business
in Singapore is located at 11 Tuas South Street 5, Singapore
637590. The principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is located at 31/F., 148 Electric Road, North Point,
Hong Kong.

The Group is principally engaged in the supply of tissue
products to corporate customers in Singapore. The subsidiary
directly and wholly-owned by the Company is SPP Investments
Limited (“SPP Investments”), which is an investment holding
company. The subsidiary indirectly and wholly-owned by the
Company (through SPP Investments) is Sunlight Paper
Products Pte. Ltd. (“Sunlight Paper”), which is principally
engaged in the supply of tissue products to corporate
customers in Singapore. Details of the subsidiaries are
disclosed in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

The immediate and ultimate holding company is YJH Group
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

2(a) Basis of Preparation 2(a) 25I|HE%E

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies
below.

The presentation of the consolidated financial statements
includes applicable disclosures required by the GEM Listing
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Singapore dollar (“*SGD”) which is the Company’s functional
currency. All financial information is presented in SGD and
rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

Significant judgements, assumptions and accounting
estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS requires the use of judgements,
assumptions and estimates that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
financial year. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge of current events and actions,
actual results may differ from those estimates.

Underlying assumptions and estimates are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and
in any future periods affected.

Significant judgements in applying accounting policies
Management is of the opinion that there are no significant
judgements that have a material effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements.

RAEMBHRERDBERRS SRS ERR
2 HEBRSHERNEES(IASB]) &
o IRAE VM BRERBIZRE 2R AE R
B AT BRI EERSIN o

RAEMBHERHNEZDBHEGEM LR R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2024

BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

2(a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2(a) 2HIEE @)

Significant assumptions and accounting estimates used
in applying accounting policies

Income taxes

Significant estimate is involved in determining group-wide
provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and
computations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recognised, such differences will affect the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made. The carrying amount of the Group’s
deferred tax liabilities at the end of the reporting period and the
Group’s income taxes for the year are disclosed in Note 11 and
Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Revaluation of building on leasehold land

The Group carries its building on leasehold land at fair value,
with the change in fair value being recognised in other
comprehensive income. The Group has engaged a firm of
independent professional valuation experts to assess the fair
value of its building on leasehold land, which is determined
using recognised valuation techniques. The technique applied is
the market approach. The carrying amount of the building on
leasehold land at fair value at the end of the reporting period is
disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
The valuation techniques and inputs used to determine the fair
value of the building on leasehold land are provided in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements. If the market value of the
comparable sales transactions used to estimate the fair value of
the Group’s building on leasehold land increases/decreases by
5% from management’s estimates, its fair value for the year will
increase/decrease by $500,000 (2023: $475,000).

86  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

FEREHBEEMANERBRRRET A
&t

FrigH
EEAREE A SEHEERSREXG
e BETRGRFAENATERBED
ERRRHBAZEERTREEN - A&
BRBMHABIMIERE KBS HARER
BHHENAE - M LA EEN KRB
BRENPHERANSEIR - WEEZER
ERECHEAR SEEREHRMEL
MIEMEE - AEBRENIA® EHRRK
SHREHERAREFAMGHRD BB
B A ISR RE 11 R PHRE20 -

ERHE S FEEY
REEMEE T3 EREYIRATETR
HATFEZHREMEEMBEER - K&
EEZEBVHEEGEERA R EEME
E+i FREYHATFE(FABERGE
RMEE) - FIEABRMATSEE - B2
FEFEMNFEE i FREYRSRE IR
EREER BN A VB RRMTES - AR
EEAS i FREY R FENGERM
R AN BURE RS I MmMKR IS » R
ARtstEERET i FEEYDAREE
WA LEHER ZH MG EBELEIEENMG
g A 5% - AIEEFHAREER
# 0, R 4> 500,000 7T (2023 £F : 475,000
7T) e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

2(a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2(a) 2HIEE @)

Significant assumptions and accounting estimates used
in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

The costs of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated economic useful lives of the assets. Management
estimates the useful lives of plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets to be within 5 to 20 years. The useful life of the
building on leasehold land is based on the committed lease
term of the leasehold land. The carrying amount of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets at the
end of the reporting period is disclosed in Note 3 and Note 4,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements. The
Group performs annual reviews on whether the assumptions
made on useful lives continue to be valid. As changes in the
expected level of usage, maintenance programmes and
technological developments could impact the economic useful
lives and the residual values of these assets, future depreciation
charges could be revised. If depreciation on the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
increases/decreases by 10% from management’s estimates,
the Group’s profit for the year will decrease/increase by
$66,000 (2023: $55,000) and $7,000 (2023: $7,000),
respectively.

Amortisation of deferred capital grant

The deferred capital grant is amortised over the useful lives of
the corresponding property, plant and equipment and software
licenses for a period of 20 years and 5 years respectively. The
carrying amount of the Group’s deferred capital grant at the
end of the reporting period is disclosed in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements. If there is a change in the
useful lives of the corresponding property, plant and equipment
and software licenses, the future amortisation income could be
revised accordingly. No sensitivity analysis is disclosed as the
impact is not considered material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2024

BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

2(a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2(a) 2HIEE @)

Significant assumptions and accounting estimates used
in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories

The Group measures inventories at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The Group records a write-down for inventories
which have become obsolete or are in excess of anticipated
demand or net realisable value. Management performs a
detailed assessment of inventory at the end of each reporting
period to establish allowance for excess and obsolete
inventories. Management’s evaluation includes a review of,
amongst other factors, the historical sales, forecasted sales,
demand requirements, product life cycle, quality issues and
current inventory levels. If future demand or market conditions
for the Group’s products are less favourable than forecasted,
the Group may be required to record write-downs which would
negatively affect gross margins in the period when the write-
downs are recorded and the Group’s operating results and
financial position could be adversely affected. The carrying
amount of the Group’s inventories at the end of the reporting
period is disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements. A 5%
decrease in the net realisable values of inventories would
decrease the Group’s profit for the year by $55,000 (2023:
$49,000).

Allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for trade receivables. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is
initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates.
The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. At the end of each
reporting period, historical default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The
Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information relating
to ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note
27.1. If the loss rates increase by 1% from management’s
estimates, the Group’s allowance for impairment of trade
receivables will increase by $22,000 (2023: $24,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published 2(b E’\ 2024 F A E) B MR 2E R

~

standards effective in 2024 2 REE] AR
On 1.10.2023, the Group adopted the following IFRSs that are E’:‘ZOZSEWH 18 - AEBEEATIIE%Z
mandatory for application from that date. Changes to the A eos il fE R e Bl R BT s iR 42 8 » AN &
Group’s accounting policies have been made as required, in B & 5 EOR B AR R B e BIPR B 15 A 22 A
accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective BRE RS PTREE) -
IFRSs.
Reference Description 5l it
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts BB IS REER  RIREA
F17%
Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies Bl @t 2 RIE 15% BeTHER
IFRS Practice Statement 2 fZ§T$&I?”H7H‘“
ERIEB AL
27)?11? EE
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates REFTERELR  EFffhETER
f§§T$
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and REFEAE12R HE-QXHGEENEE
Liabilities arising from a Single 1z AR HE ERENERT
Transaction HiE
Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar B e ERE 125 BERRHIRE — iz
Two Model Rules BRI BARA
The adoption of these new and amended IFRSs did not result RN EH ] RIS sT R B #S R & £
in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies nor WEBYAEESHBERLRENES -
any significant impact on these financial statements, except for I 4 Tux—rﬁﬂ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁifﬂ?ijﬁ;;
the following: BRTUATE :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2024

BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published 2(b) 722024 F A R H) ¥ 2 AR 2 A

standards effective in 2024 (Continued)

Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from
a single transaction

The Group has adopted Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
from 1 January 2023. The amendments narrow the scope of
the initial recognition exemption to exclude transactions that
give rise to equal and offsetting temporary difference — e.g.
leases.

An entity is required to recognise the associated deferred tax
assets and liabilities from the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any accumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to retained earnings at that date.
For all other transactions, an entity applies the amendments to
transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest
period presented.

The Group previously accounted for deferred tax on leases by
applying the “integrally linked” approach, resulting in a similar
outcome as under the amendments, except that the deferred
tax asset or liability was recognised on a net basis. Following
the amendments, the Group has recognised a separate
deferred tax assets in relation to its lease liabilities and a
deferred tax liability in relation to its right-of-use assets.
However, there was no impact on the statement of financial
position because the balances qualify for offset under paragraph
74 of IAS 12. There was also no impact on the opening retained
earnings as at 1 October 2022 as a result of the change. The
key impact for the Group relates to disclosure of the deferred
tax assets and liabilities recognised (See Note 11).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

2(c) New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted
The following are the new or amended IFRSs and IFRICs issued
that are not yet effective but may be early adopted for the
current financial year. However, the Group has not early
adopted the new or amended IFRSs and IFRICs in preparing
these financial statements:

2(c)

AR BRANH)FTAER M R

AT B HAREBER RN AP R FEIRF
RN O IR AT SRS RT BIFR B 5 s
EALEREMBHREREZEGRE - A
- 2SR B AR B 5 B %5 R B 1 R 3R
R A BRI BIR B A RS A 2

BB mERBEEZaeRE
Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on
Reference Description or after)
EXEH
(R B8R E
2% R RRINFEHE)
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- 1.1.2024
current
BN e R E 1 RIEFT A MBERBDEENR 20241 A1H
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1.1.2024
BN &5 AR E 1 RIEFT AR BZHNERBDEE 2024%1 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1.1.2024
BIR I mE R E 16 BT A EREEFNEESE 20241 A1H
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 17 Supplier Finance Arrangements 1.1.2024
B g ERIE T RIBTAR HERREZH 2024%1 A1H
BB B S R E A7 HIEET A
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1.1.2025
Bl & SRR 21 FERT A Rz AT E ] 202541 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Classification and Measurement of Financial 1.1.2026
Instruments
B B 75 3R &5 2RISR 95 R BB 7 SR IE AT AR ERIANSBRGE 20261 A1H
Annual improvements to IFRS — Volume 11
BIFR B R S LRI FECE — F1156
— Amendments to IFRS 1 Hedge Accounting by a First-time Adopter 1.1.2026
— BB ¥R E A RIS 1 SRIEET A BRARAENEDRE: 20261 A1H
— Amendments to IFRS 7 Gain or Loss on Derecognition 1.1.2026
— BB mEEAE 7 IRERT A RIEFERE B R 20261 A1H
— Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosure of Deferred Difference between Fair 1.1.2026
Value and Transaction Price
— BRI SRS R 7 RERT AR BEAABEEAZSER ZENRETEZR 20261 A1H
— Amendments to IFRS 7 Introduction and Credit Risk Disclosures 1.1.2026
— B SmEERE 7 IRERTA SRR S 20261 A1H
— Amendments to IFRS 9 Lessee Derecognition of Lease Liabilities 1.1.2026
— BRI R EEAE IRIERT AR EBALIEREBERE 20261 A1H
— Amendments to IFRS 9 Transaction Price 1.1.2026
— BIRBI ¥R E RIS O SRIEFT A BB 202641 A1H
— Amendments to IFRS 10 Determination of a ‘De Facto Agent’ 1.1.2026
— BRI EERFE 1057 BT A wE[EE FARIEAL 20261 A1H
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2(c) New standards and interpretations not yet 2(c) MIARFMMFTER N RE @)

adopted (Continued)

Effective date

(Annual periods

beginning on

Reference Description or after)

EHAH

(AT B8R

2% it FBIFEHE)

— Amendments to IAS 7 Cost Method 1.1.2026

— BEIFR &R RIS 7 IRERT A BRAE 20261 A1H

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 1.1.2027
Statements

B FR B s R 5 HE R B 18 5% WIS R P 0TI AN 5 20271 A1 H

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 1.1.2027
Disclosures

B B 5 3R S A RIEE 1955 BERAEMESINFAR : HE 20271 A1 H

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

To be determined

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

BIFR B 5 S RSB 10 3R IERT A &2 REEREBENRRALELEZHNEEN €
BB & ET 2RI 28 SRERT A EXHE

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the above
IFRSs in future periods will have a material impact on the
financial statements of the Group and the Company in the
period of their initial adoption.

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy

Information

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries at the end of
the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company.
Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions
and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised
gains and losses resulting from intragroup transactions and
dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Thus, the Group controls an investee if, and only if,
the Group has all of the following:

(i) power over the investee;

(i)  exposure, or rights or variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

(i)  the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its
returns

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation,
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their depreciable
amount over their estimated useful lives or remaining lease
period, as follows:
Building on leasehold land Remaining lease period
t0 156.8.2060
Plant and machinery 5to 20 years
Motor vehicles 51to 10 years
Furnishings and improvements 10 years
No depreciation is provided for construction-in-progress.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as
part of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the
obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred
as a consequence of acquiring or using the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2024

BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and
equipment that have been recognised is added to the carrying
amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic
benefits in excess of the standard of performance of the asset
before the expenditure was made will flow to the Group and the
cost can be reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure
is recognised as an expense during the period in which it is
incurred.

For acquisitions and disposals during the period, depreciation is
recognised in profit or loss from the month that the property,
plant and equipment are installed and are available for use, and
to the month of disposal, respectively. Fully depreciated
property, plant and equipment are retained in the accounts until
they are no longer in use.

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the
difference between the disposal proceeds and its carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period as a change in estimates.

Building on leasehold land is measured at fair value at the date
of the revaluation less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment. Any revaluation
surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under revaluation reserve, except to the
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset
previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the
increase is recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is
recognised in profit or loss, where it exceeds an existing surplus
on the same asset carried in the revaluation reserve.

At valuation date, the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a
manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the carrying
amount of the asset. The accumulated depreciation is adjusted
to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and
the carrying amount of the asset after taking into account
accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Software licences

Software licences are capitalised and amortised on a straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 5 years.

Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the
Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets, at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs. Trade
receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring promised goods or services to a customer,
excluding amounts collected on behalf of third party if the trade
receivables do not contain a significant financing component at
initial recognition. Refer to the accounting policy on “Revenue
from contracts with customers”.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are “solely payments of principal and interest” (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as
the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.
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2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate

cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are
classified in four categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

—  Financial assets at FVOCI with recycling of cumulative
gains and losses (debt instruments)

—  Financial assets designated at FVOCI with no recycling of
cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity
instruments)

— Financial assets at FVTPL

The Group does not hold any financial assets at FVOCI or
FVTPL.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the
contractual cash terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent SPPI are
measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the
amortisation process.
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2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise trade
and other receivables (excluding government grant receivable
and advances to suppliers) and cash and cash equivalents.

A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of
consideration that is unconditional (i.e. only the passage of time
is required before payment of the consideration is due).

Derecognition
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to

receive cash flows from the asset expire. On derecognition of a
financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received is recognised
in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) associated with its debt instrument
financial assets carried at amortised cost. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (12-month ECLs). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (lifetime ECLs).
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2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group measures the loss allowance
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. Therefore, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at the end of each reporting
period. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other receivables, loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs. The 12-month ECLs are estimated by
reference to the track record of the counterparties and their
business and financial conditions.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable data:

° significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

° a breach of contract such as a default or being more than
90 days past due;

o the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on
terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;

o it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised
cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of these
assets.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of
its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus, for an
item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue.

The Group’s financial liabilities comprise lease liability and trade
and other payables (excluding net output tax).

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at
FVTPL, such as interest-bearing borrowings, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation
process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis, and
includes all costs in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. In the case of manufactured products,
cost includes all direct expenditure and appropriate share of
production overheads based on the normal level of operating
activity.

Allowance is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective
inventories in arriving at the net realisable value. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in bank and on
hand, and fixed deposits with financial institution which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Share capital and share premium

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of new ordinary shares that
have been issued. Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issuance of new ordinary shares are deducted against share
premium.
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for financial year ended 30.9.2024

BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are not accounted for
in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the articles of association of the Company grant the
Directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised directly as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Leases
The Group as a lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all
lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-
term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of twelve
months or less) and leases of low-value assets. For these
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease (including extension option) unless another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate specific to the lessee. The incremental borrowing
rate is defined as the rate of interest that the lessee would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term and with a similar security
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liability (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease

liability comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate
the lease.

The lease liabilities are presented as a separate line item in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost,

by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease

liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the

carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liability (Continued)
The Group remeasures the lease liability (with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset or to profit or loss if
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has already been
reduced to nil) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a significant event
or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

o the lease payments change due to changes in an index or
rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments
change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in
which case a revised discount rate is used); or

° a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

104  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

2(d) EREHHEREMNBE @)

\E &)

AREBEAEBAA (E)

HEBEE)

MEBRUTER  ~"EEEFHFTE=HESR
15 (3 3% 48 B {6 AR e 4 ol 1B 2 ({50 FR A
BEROECREZS)ERBRERAZE)

o  TAHBARPABWABAEMHRIBER
BEEE FRITRBEEEENT
HEERE EUHBERT  HERRE
BB REIERT R KA EEFTHE
ENFMEHNE

o  MENREBEINEEBHARER
RAEETRANRES M HIRE
B EiERT  HEREEANR
AR R BRI E TR E N M E &
E(FRFEENHARZBH RES
MEMES » EUERT - AERRK
ERTRARER ) © 3K

e THEAYEEBHAMEEERTER—
HEBHEAR ®HBERT  #HE
BEABEANEIERBEBMNEE
FIRGER R ALIR KIS R E ki R

e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset comprises the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and
any initial direct costs. It is subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle
and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is
located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is
recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the
costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

Depreciation on right-of-use asset is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate its depreciable amounts over
the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset, as follows:

Prepaid differential premium
Leasehold land

11 years
11 years

If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost
of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to
exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is presented as a separate line item in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment
loss.

Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised
at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax
authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements
except when the deferred income tax arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and affects neither accounting or taxable
profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets and
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authorities
on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, provided
they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised
simultaneously.

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax is measured:

(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates
and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period; and

(i)  based on the tax consequence that will follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amounts
of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Income taxes (Continued)

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income
or expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that the tax
arises from a business combination or a transaction which is
recognised either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Valued-added taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the
amount of value-added tax (“VAT”), except where the VAT
incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable
from the taxation authorities, in which case the VAT is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable, and except that trade
receivables and trade payables are recorded with the amount of
VAT included. The net amount of VAT recoverable from or
payable to the taxation authorities are included as part of other
receivables or other payables in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

The Group contributes to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), a
defined contribution plan regulated and managed by the
Government of Singapore, which applies to the employees.
Contribution is mandatory and forfeiture of contribution by
employer is prohibited. A defined contribution plan is a post-
employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contribution into a separate entity and will have no legal or
constructive obligation to pay further amounts. The
contributions to CPF are charged to profit or loss in the period
to which the contributions relate.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. Accrual is made for the unconsumed
leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.
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e MWK
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BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)
Related parties

A related party is defined as follows:

(@)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group or the Company if that person:

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Company;
has significant influence over the Company; or
is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or the Company or of a parent of the
Company.

An entity is related to the Group or the Company if any of

the following conditions applies:

U

(i)

(i)

(v)

the entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Company or an
entity related to the Company. If the Company is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Company.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).
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2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy

Information (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the reporting entity or to the parent of the
reporting entity.

Key management personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having the
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the Group. Directors and certain management
executive are considered key management personnel.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other
than inventories, are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s

recoverable amount is estimated.

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the
individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belong will be identified.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are
tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level.

Individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal
and value in use, based on an internal discounted cash flow
evaluation. Impairment loss recognised for a cash-generating
unit is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-generating
unit. All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that
an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist.

Any impairment loss is charged to profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount or when
there is an indication that the impairment loss recognised for
the asset no longer exists or decreases.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from sale of goods and services in the ordinary course
of business is recognised when the Group satisfies a
performance obligation (“PO”) by transferring control of a
promised good or service to the customer. The transaction
price is allocated to each PO in the contract on the basis of the
relative stand-alone selling prices of the promised goods or
services. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount of
the transaction price allocated to the satisfied PO.
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2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The transaction price is the amount of consideration in the
contract to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services. When
consideration is variable, the estimated amount is included in
the transaction price to the extent that it is highly probable that
a significant reversal of the cumulative revenue will not occur
when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration
is resolved.

Revenue may be recognised at a point in time or over time
following the timing of satisfaction of the PO.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised by the Group at
a point in time when the goods are delivered to the customer,
all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied, and the customer
obtains control of the goods.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss,
using the effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as other income on a systematic basis
in the periods in which the expenses are recognised, unless the
conditions for receiving the grant are met after the related
expenses have been recognised.

Government grants related to assets are initially recognised as
deferred income. These government grants are then recognised
as other income on a systematic basis over the useful life of the
asset.

Government grants are recognised as a receivable at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the grants will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
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BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Singapore dollar, which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

Conversion of foreign currencies

Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency
(“foreign currency”) are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Currency translation differences from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates
at the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or
loss.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis
as either other income or other expenses depending on
whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net
loss position.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 20) EXSEHBEREMBE @

Information (Continued)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a
non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
‘highest and best use’ or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its ‘highest and best

use .

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

o Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities;

° Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level
inputs that are significant to the fair value measurement
are directly or indirectly observable; and

o Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level
inputs that are significant to the fair value measurement
are unobservable.
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2(d) Summary of Material Accounting Policy 2d) EREFHEEMBE @)

Information (Continued)

Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of the Group that
engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that
relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other
components. All operating segments’ operating results are
reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer
(“CEQ”), who is the chief operating decision maker, to make
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and
to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial
information is available. Additional disclosures on each of these
segments are shown in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, including the factors used to identify the reportable
segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during
the period to acquire property, plant and equipment.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or
loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding, for the effects
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share
options granted to employees, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

3 Property, plant and equipment 3 WE - BENEE
Building on
leasehold Plant and Motor Fumnishingsand ~ Construction-
land machinery vehicles  improvements in-progress
(at valuation) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) Total
RELHE
BEN HERME RE FARER HEIR
(f58) (e %) (REE) (REE) (REE) a3t
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

THL THL THL THL THL THL

Cost or valuation A E

At1.10.2022 R2022F10A18 10,843 715 1,848 266 2,294 15,966
Additions NE - 136 191 117 275 719
Disposals hE - - (139) - - (135)
Transfers & - 2,202 - 130 (2,332) -
Revaluation it (264) - - - - (264)
At 30.9.2023 20239 A30H 10,579 3,003 1,904 513 237 16,286
Additions RE - 82 35 - 183 300
Transfers 247 - 420 - - (420) -
Revaluation Bff 866 - - - - 866
At 30.9.2024 #202459H530A 11,445 3,555 1,939 513 - 17,452
Accumulated depreciation Z:i7E

At1.10.2022 R2022F10A1H 843 72 796 25 - 1,736
Depreciation (Note 18) TE(MzH18) 263 % 150 38 - 547
Disposals HE - - (50) - - (60)
Revaluation Efy 27) - - - - 27)
At309.2003 Ra0BE9A0E 1,079 168 896 63 - 2,206
Depreciation (Note 18) mEiz1e) 257 189 158 51 - 655
Revaluation B 109 - - - - 109
At 30.9.2024 R202459530R 1,445 357 1,054 114 - 2,970
Carrying amount REE

At 30.9.2024 #202459530A 10,000 3,198 885 399 - 14,482
At 30.9.2023 R2023F9A 308 9,500 2,885 1,008 450 237 14,080
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3

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)
Construction-in-progress relates mainly to machines procured
by the Group for the purpose of production of tissue products.

During the financial year ended 30.9.2024, cash payments of
$300,000 (2023: $719,000) were made for the purchase of
property, plant and equipment.

As at 30.9.2024, the building on leasehold land with carrying
amount of $10,000,000 (2023: $9,500,000) was pledged to a
financial institution for banking facilities granted to the Group.

Building on leasehold land

The building on leasehold land is an industrial property located
at 11 Tuas South Street 5, Singapore 637590. The property
comprises a factory built on one parcel of leasehold land. Sale
or transfer of the building on leasehold land held for own use is
subject to consent from the Government leasehold estate.

The building is a three-storey factory with a gross floor area of
4,189.1 sgq.m. The first two storeys with a gross floor area of
2,993.4 sgq.m. was completed in 2003. Construction of a third
storey with a gross floor area of 1,195.7 sq.m. commenced in
2019 and was completed in 2022. The leasehold land has a
total site area of 2,999.9 sg.m. It is held under the Government
leasehold estate and leased for an initial term of 30 years
commencing from 16.8.2000 and expiring on 15.8.2030, with
an option to renew for an additional term of 30 years
commencing on 16.8.2030 and expiring on 15.8.2060 (Note 4).

116  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

Y -~ BB MR (8)
ERIRTIESRAEEAEEGHE
R REE A -

REE2024F9A30B ILHEBEE - A
BETYE - BEMEHZ N T 300,000
7T (20234 : 719,000 7T) W3R & -

7202449 A30H - BRI{E 10,000,000 7T
(2023 4F : 9,500,0007T ) ) & + #h F 72
EMERLE—REEBUREAEER
SRRITRLE o

ZHEELH FEEY

ZMEE T FREY R 11 Tuas South
Street 5 * Singapore 637590 #) T ¥4 % -
ZMELE—EREEN —IRAE -
EENERSEERMNHEE T FEEY
BRRBRERERE °

ZEFER-ERENBAEZEMBELY
4,189.1 F 72K o H W B 7 20038 4 & BX
R4 FE SR E IS 492,993.4F 5 K ° 20194F
FMIEEE=E #EEERER 1,195.7
T AR 2022 F TERK o ZAAE T A HY
BHEER2,990.9F 77Kk - EEREBNHEE
FEHERE - MEYIZ A0 + 82000
F8A16HMLE20304F8 A15HEm * AJ
BIZFEBEI0FT - H2080F8H 16 E
20604 8 A 15 A @ (FizE4) o
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for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

3

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)
Revaluation of building on leasehold land

Management has engaged a firm of independent professional
valuers to perform valuation of the building on leasehold land,
having regard to the valuers’ recognised and relevant
professional qualifications and recent experience in the location
and category of the property being valued.

In determining the fair value of the building on leasehold land,
the valuers used the market approach. Based on the valuation
report as at 30.9.2024, the fair value was determined to be
$10,000,000 (2023: $9,500,000). As at 30.9.2024, the
revaluation surplus of $628,000 (2023: revaluation deficit of
$197,000) (after deducting the related tax of $129,000 (2023:
after including the related tax of $$40,000) (Note 11)) was
recognised in other comprehensive income.

The carrying amount of the building on leasehold land that
would have been recognised had it been carried under the cost
model was $3,764,000 (2023: $3,869,000).

Fair value hierarchy
As at 30.9.2024, the fair value measurement for the building on

the leasehold land has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value
based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

Level 3 fair values
The changes in Level 3 fair value, which comprised a
reconciliation from the opening to the ending balance, is set out
in the table above.

3
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hEHRE - A FEEE 410,000,0007T
(20234 : 9,500,0007T ) ° R2024F 9 A
30H + = {4 & $2 628,000 7T (20234 : &
flk 78 F197,0007T ) ( £ 1 B 48 B4 & 18
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3 Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 3 WME BELERE®
Revaluation of building on leasehold land (Continued) EfEELH EEEY(E)
Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs 1E BT R BT ] B i A 2%
The following table shows the valuation technique used in TRINRFTE2EIRAFEERFTANMG
measuring the Level 3 fair value hierarchy, as well as the Bl - ARFFABNER TS REAH
significant unobservable inputs used: ®

Inter-relationship
between key

unobservable
Significant inputs and
Valuation unobservable fair value
Description technique inputs measurement Range
FETTERHA
HEHRAVETE
ik BRI EXTAHERAEE BHEDER EE
Building on leasehold Market approach by Adjustments applied to A significant increase in -~ 2024: Discount of
land — industrial making reference to market comparables, market selling prices 2% t0 19% of
property in Singapore comparable sale taking into consideration  would result in a comparables
transactions as the remaining lease significantly higher fair
available in the tenure, timing of such value measurement,  2023: Discount of
Singapore market. transactions and and vice versa. 5% t0 23%
location of comparable of comparables
properties.
HELi FREY — Wik E2EMNE WA ELBIEE fRA mEEEARE LA 2024 F - RAELR
RFIE TE Y% TS AEH A & L HE BEEHT BYNTERE EEME2%E19%
HERS ° HEFH BRAXHH BEEM - R IR -
R Rl BB % 2023 F - RAELR
fIE - TEB 5% & 23%
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#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

4 Right-of-use assets

4 (EHEEE

Prepaid
differential Leasehold
premium land Total
Ao EE HELH st
$'000 $'000 $'000
T+ T+ T
Cost AR
At 1.10.2022, M2022%F10H18 -
30.9.2023 and 2023F9H30HK
30.9.2024 202449 H30H 506 296 802
Accumulated depreciation Z2stifre
At 1.10.2022 R2022F 10 A1 H 140 82 222
Depreciation (Note 18) & (H3E18) 46 27 73
At 30.9.2023 7202349 A30H 186 109 295
Depreciation (Note 18) e (H3E18) 48 26 74
At 30.9.2024 7A2024F9HA30H 234 135 369
Carrying amount BREE
At 30.9.2024 A 202459H30H 272 161 433
At 30.9.2023 7202349 A30H 320 187 507

Prepaid differential premium relates to payment for the lifting of

plot ratio restriction on the leasehold land title.

BNMOHESERRRLELREESL
Ho P B HERR Y T ST YRR
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BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

5 Software licences 5 BT
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
$°000 $'000
Tr Tt
Cost 59N
At 1 October R10A1H 98 98
Additions NE - -
At 30 September RO A30H 98 98
Accumulated amortisation REt#e
At 1 October ®10A1H 55 41
Amortisation (Note 18) BoH (M3E18) 13 14
At 30 September RO AS30H 68 55
Carrying amount IREE
At 1 October ®10H1H 43 57
At 30 September MROHA30H 30 43
The amortisation of software licences is included in PHSTENEHET A RSB REME
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of profit HWRmEFROITHRFAS °
or loss and other comprehensive income.
Software licenses mainly relate to an online self-order and PHErEEFZEEERENERSE]
payment portal procured by the Group. BANZ NP ER -
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for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

6 Inventories 6 FE
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
$°000 $'000
Tr T
As cost: B
Raw materials Bk 145 90
Goods-in-transit EEE 25 136
Finished goods SRR o 924 759
1,094 985
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an HRARZ W AHEXNEANTFESE D
expense and included in cost of sales is as follows: Mo
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
$°000 $'000
F T
Cost of inventories recognised in cost RIS AR T ER A
of sales (Note 18) (KMt3E18) 8,234 9,418
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#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEHMBFE

7 Trade and Other Receivables 7 B NEMEWGKIE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

$°000 $'000

Fr T

Trade receivables from third parties REE=ZFTHE SHEWKFIA 2,183 2,411
Other receivables H e U FOR 56 22
Deposits wme 43 41
2,282 2,474
Less: Allowance for ECLs W BEMEEE R (37) (37)
Financial assets at amortised cost LAY BRI IS B E 2,245 2,437
Government grant receivable A M5 BT 8 B - 492
Advances to suppliers T TR ERE R 28 22
2,273 2,951

The Group generally extends credit period of O to 30 days
(2023: 0 to 30 days) to customers, depending on the length of
business relationship, payment history, background and
financial strength of the customers. The Group actively reviews
the trade receivable balances and follows up on outstanding
debts with the customers.

Trade receivables arise from customers in Singapore.

Based on invoice dates, ageing analysis of the Group’s trade
receivables is as follows:

AEEB-MARFEREEHOE30H
(20234 : 0£30H) * NRFEFLHEB
BERFH NREL - BERMBENM
E o AEBBGRHNE S EUGRIEEBR K
BR3P i R K BT o

S REGIRKRBFIEHES

BHEBEZAH NEER S EWRFENE
BT

2024 2023

2024 2023 4F

$°000 $000

Fr T

0 to 30 days 02 30H 1,144 1,243
31 to 60 days 31E60H 757 870
61 to 90 days 61Z90H 241 275
Over 90 days HBiE90 H 41 23
2,183 2,411
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for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

7 Trade and Other Receivables (Continued) 2 5 K& H Ath FEYGRIE ()
Based on due dates, ageing analysis of trade receivables that RIFFIAIA - MARBRENE S ERIED
are not impaired is as follows: RIS T -

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

$°000 $°000

Fr FT

Not past due 7 4% 460 A 1,234 1,325

Past due 0 to 30 days BHEF0OE30H 637 774

Past due 31 to 60 days wHEI31 2=60H 275 227

Past due 61 to 90 days BHEI61E£90H 37 85

2,183 2,411

ERBLENE  ~XEEREHERES
FEWGRIBE R ERE - RE AL EER
receivables, as they mainly arise from customers that have a REFZERAEAEEESRIFEERH
good credit record with the Group. B o

Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade

The movement of allowance for ECLs of other receivables AP HFEEMERRTEREZEREEBER

during the financial year was as follows. BEMOT -
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
$°000 $'000
T T
At 1 October ®10H1H 37 -
Allowance for ECLs TEEME BB R - 37
At 30 September RO HA30H 37 37

Trade and other receivables are denominated in SGD. B 5 K E bR GRIA T AT N TTEHE -
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8 Cash and Cash Equivalents 8 HREeKASEEY
2024 2023
2024 2023 4F
$’000 $'000
T T
Cash on hand FHERS 6 3
Cash in bank RITES 947 1,219
Fixed deposits FEHFR 2,500 500
3,453 1,722
The fixed deposits have a maturity date of between 1 and 3 FHES M EE A A1 E31E 8 (20234 ¢
months (2023: 3 months) and the effective interest rate is 1.98% AR ) B EF X AH1.98%%F2.38%
to0 2.38% per annum (2023: 2.40% per annum). (2023 : 2.4%) ©
Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following B4 RBSEEY AT EEHE -
currencies:
2024 2023
2024 20234
$°000 $000
T T
SGD s T 3,439 1,712
HKD BT 14 10
3,453 1,722
9 Share Capital 9 MR
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F 2024 F 2023 F
Number of ordinary shares $°000 $000
EEREA T T
Issued and fully paid ERTRAR
At 1 October and 30 September 1081 H X9 A30H 800,000,000 800,000,000 1,338 1,338
The ordinary shares of the Company have par value of HK$0.01 NN BH) L BAL 2 {E0.01 78T °
each.
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends B AE ABRERE T EIRAOMKE -
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per EAE—BRIRBEEASHE —Z o gt AR
share at shareholders’ meetings. All shares rank equally with AIZEIBREEMS TERMDHBEZERZE
regard to the Company’s residual assets. HIAT o
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for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

10 Reserves 10 @1
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
$°000 $000
Fr T
Share premium &1 m(E 6,221 6,221
Merger reserve il 580 580
Revaluation reserve BHHFE 5,907 5,279
Retained earnings REBAF 4,145 3,410
16,853 15,490

Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of proceeds from the
issuance of new ordinary shares over the nominal value of the
shares issued, net of share issue expenses.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the excess of the share capital
of Sunlight Paper, which is the sole operating subsidiary of the
Group, over the consideration given in the Reorganisation. The
merger reserve is not available for distribution to Shareholders.

Revaluation reserve

Revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of building on
leasehold land under the revaluation model (Note 3). The
revaluation reserve is not available for distribution to the
Company’s shareholders.

IR A0 =18

s B BEITH T BRMEHREBLED
BT AR 0 B RO BUREDR A7) B2 1T R S O 3R
o

Aot

& B3 5 145 8 Sunlight Paper ( 7~ £ [ & I —
EEMB AR RABLEAMERENE
B AHREBHTITANDIRTFIRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2024

BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

11 Deferred Tax Liabilities 11 EEHIBEAE
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the BIEPTISMEEME G R RN THERE -
following:
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
$°000 $°000
Ft Fx
(Represented)
(&)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 1,457 1,194
Deferred tax assets RIEFEREAE (30) (34)
1,427 1,160
Deferred tax liabilities EEHBARE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB REETE)
(depreciation) 272 133
Property, plant and equipment Y% - B N (E)
(revaluation) 1,158 1,029
Right-of-use assets EREEE 27 32
Set off of tax WA 1,457 1,194
Deferred tax assets arising from lease AHEaBEEANELERNEH
liabilities BE (30) (34)
1,427 1,160
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#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

11

12

Deferred Tax Liabilities (Continued) 11 REHIBEER @
Movements in deferred tax liabilities during the financial year are REBAYREEANRELET B EE 80
as follows: NS
Recognised Recognised
Recognised in in other Recognised in in other
profit or loss  comprehensive profit or loss  comprehensive
At1.10.2022 (Note 20) income  At30.9.2023 (Note 20) income  At30.9.2024
R202% RERER REM2E R2023% RERRR REM2E RANUE
10818 (Mz20) it 9R%0A (Mzro0) lidat 9A30R
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
THn THn THn THn THn THr o
Propery, plant equipment  EEREE(E
— depreciation -HE 61 7 - 183 139 - 22
— revaluation -8 1,069 - 40) 1,029 - 129 1,158
Right-of-use assets FREEE 37 () - kY ) - 27
Lease liabiltes fERR (%) 4 - (34 4 - (30)
Capital allowances BREE ) I - - - - -
1,062 148 (40) 1,160 138 129 1427
Deferred Capital Grant 12 IREE AR
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
$°000 $000
F Tt
At 1 October R10A1H 519 48
Recognition of deferred capital grant TR I & AN B - 492
Difference against actual grant received — ERERUGFI & BN & B =58 2 -
Amortisation B (36) 1)
At 30 September MR9HAB0H 481 519

Sunlight Paper received grant from the Singapore government
to support the purchase of certain property, plant and
equipment and software licences. The deferred capital grant is
amortised over the useful lives of the corresponding property,
plant and equipment and software licences for a period of 20
years and 5 years respectively.

RO RIA20F N 54 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2024

BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

13 Lease Liability 13 HEAaE
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Undiscounted lease payments due: R R B R AR A E K
— Year 1 — F1F 33 33
— Year 2 — B2F 32 33
— Year 3 — $E3F 32 32
— Year 4 — F4F 32 32
— Year 5 — E5% 32 32
— Year 6 and onwards — FeERHE 34 67
195 229
Less: Unearned interest cost B AR BRER B AR (17) (27)
178 202
Represented by: g -
— Non-current — IERE 152 176
— Current — R 26 26
178 202
Total cash outflows for leases HERSRHAE
Total cash outflows for leases for the financial year are as APBFERER S MOBRENT
follows:
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
$°000 $'000
Fx Fx
Payment of lease liabilities HEAENSN 34 34
34 34
Further information about the financial risk management is BAVERREENE — S ERRNHE27
disclosed in Note 27. ®E -

128  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

14 Trade and Other Payables 14 B 5 NEMERFKIA

2024 2023
2024 20234
$°000 $'000
Fx T
Trade payables to third parties ENE=FESEMNFE 546 841
Accrued directors’ fees EBEtEEwS 100 100
Accrued employee benefits et R BEF 502 458
Accrued expenses FEETRISZ 50 42
Other payables HAb A 5RIE 8 19
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RBIER AT RN aE 1,206 1,460
Net output tax SHIBRTFEE 90 94
1,296 1,554

The average credit period taken to settle trade payables is EEE G ENRIENEHEESY A30K

approximately 30 days (2023: 30 days). (20234 : 30K) °

Based on invoice dates, ageing analysis of the Group’s trade BIERZAMH AEEE 5 ENIIELNE
payables is as follow: EOWIT -

2024 2023
2024 20234
$°000 $'000
Ft T
0 to 30 days 0E 30K 316 550
31 to 60 days 31£60XK 230 260
61 to 90 days 61 £E 90K - 31
546 841
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR R M
for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEHMBFE

14 Trade and Other Payables (Continued) 14 B 5 REMERFIE @)
Trade and other payables are denominated in the following B REMBMNZIATIEREE
currencies:
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
$°000 $°000
Ft Fit
SGD s T 1,296 1,415
uUsD ETT - 139
1,296 1,654
15 Revenue 15 Ukzs
Significant categories of revenue, excluding applicable goods BREROEmERBEHIN - EAR WS ER
and services tax, are detailed as follows: SN
2024 2023
2024 20234
$°000 $'000
F T
Revenue from contracts with customers  BF & #)Hz5
— Sale of goods — HEEM 14,061 14,596
Timing of transfer of goods e MR
— At a point in time — RE 2 14,061 14,596
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#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

16 Other Income

16 EAMUA

2024 2023

2024 F 20234F

$°000 $'000

Tr T

Foreign exchange gain, net SN W 5 F B 9 -

Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BELERENRE

plant and equipment - 34

Government grants* IR I #e B * 49 30
Interest income MESKA 42

Sundry income HEUA 11 5

111 70

*

Included in government grants is an amount of amortisation of

deferred capital grant of $36,000 (2023: $21,000).

*

BB R BB IECE A NS
36,000 7T (20234 : 21,0007T) °

17 Finance Costs 17 BUERKA
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
$°000 $'000
Fr Fr
Interest expenses on lease liability UTHERZHEERRE 10 10
10 10
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RE MR R M
for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEHMBFE

18 Profit Before Taxation 18 BREiADR A
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
Note $000 $'000
k3 Tr T
Profit before taxation has EHBR AT & IEZ BRI AT
been arrived at after charging: Ve A
Amortisation of software licences B (A S AR B 5 13 14
Auditor’s remuneration %80 B B 50 42
Cost of inventories recognised in RIHERAEZRNTFERK A
cost of sales 6 8,234 9,418
Depreciation of property, ME - BB MEETE
plant and equipment 3 655 547
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (£ HAEEEITE 4 74 73
Staff costs (including Directors’ BITRRA (BIEE = H
remuneration (Note 19)) (Mi5E19))
— salaries and other related costs ~ — %% & E BB A 2,688 2,360
— contributions to defined — REHFETEMER
contribution plans 148 137
2,836 2,497
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#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

19 Directors’ Remuneration and Five Highest Paid 19 ESHFBEAESSH AT

Individuals
19.1 Directors’ remuneration 19.1 E=HHF
Salaries,
allowances
and benefits Discretionary Defined
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
E7 =4
BR REWEA M REMR @5t
$:000 $:000 $000 $:000 $:000
T T i T Fr
2024 2024 F
Executive Directors: HiTEE
Mr. Chua Liang Sie ERBLAE 25 294 58 11 388
Mr. Chua Liang Chui ERPRE 25 234 38 1 308
Mr. Chua Wenhao BEOERAE 25 190 13 16 244
Mr. Chua Wenijie BYREE 25 192 8 15 240
Independent non-executive Directors: BV HHTEE :
Mr. Tog Chek Soon e e 10 - - - 10
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie R 10 - - - 10
Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia ¥RELL 10 - - - 10
130 910 117 53 1,210
2023 2023 F
Executive Directors: HITEE
Mr. Chua Liang Sie ERBRAE 25 258 57 11 351
Mr. Chua Liang Chui BRALE 25 216 37 11 289
Mr. Chua Wenhao BERE 25 148 10 14 197
Mr. Chua Wenjie BYARE 25 150 7 13 195
Independent non-executive Directors: BV HHTEE :
Mr. Tog Chek Soon e e 10 - - - 10
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie Ep 10 - - - 10
Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia BRELL 10 - - - 10
130 172 M 49 1,062
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for financial year ended 30.9.2024
BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

19 Directors’ Remuneration and Five Highest Paid
Individuals (Continued)

19.1

19.2

Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

During the financial year, no Director or any of the highest
paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments (2023: nil). No emoluments were paid by the
Group to the Directors or any of the highest paid
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office as
a Director of any member of the Group or of any other
office in connection with the management of the affairs of
any member of the Group (2023: nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included 4
(2023: 4) Directors for the year, whose emoluments are
reflected in Note 19.1.

The analysis of the emolument of the remaining 1 (2023:
1) highest paid individual (who is a key management
personnel) for the year is set out below:

19 BFHFME AL ESHALT @

19.1

19.2

EHEHM(E)

RAPHEE  BEESEEMRe
FATHEIRERETMINE
(20234 : ) - AEEMEmmESE
IAREEEMEEHFA LIS SE
ARSI EMAREBMEIMARE R
NEBSEAREAANEEERKER
BEEMA BT AEBIMKE
A RIEH5H AT E A B A A B
(20234 : #&) -

EEERHAL
RER  AEEREEEHATEE
4% (20234 4B )EE - HB&5F
BEERAMIEE19.1 ©

RER B 12 (2023F 1 18) %
SHALT(ERIEEEAE) NN
EOMEFOT ¢

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

$°000 $°000

Fr T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind &4 - FAL R EWET 258 222
Discretionary bonuses BB fEAT 57 55
Defined contributions FEMK 15 15
330 292

The emolument paid to this individual fell within the
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 band for the financial
year ended 30.9.2024 (2023: HK$1,500,001 to
HK$2,000,000 band).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

20 Taxation 20 MBI
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
Current taxation BNER%E 1A
— current year — RKFE 212 54
— changes in estimates in respect of — BEFENGEETE
prior years (49) -
163 54
Deferred taxation (Note 11) IEFERIA (F1FE11)
— current year — KFE 81 198
— changes in estimates in respect of — BEFEMGETE
prior years 57 (50)
138 148
301 202
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RE MR R M
for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEHMBFE

20 Taxation (Continued) 20
The tax expense on the results of the financial year varies from
the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable
rate of income tax on accounting profits as a result of the

MTE (@)

FSTHRELE BREENEENRG
B A R E R M R AR B R
P E P EHEE

following:
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
$°000 $000
Fx Tt
Profit before taxation B %t AT 1,036 852
Tax at statutory rates applicable to #EARTR AR M)A E R R
different jurisdictions 206 178
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses 7~ A] H175 i 5% #h i 75 2 428 111 100
Tax effect on non-taxable income IERBHU AT G E (7) ©)
Tax exempt income BRUA (17) (17)
Changes in estimates in respect of BAEFERNMGTE
prior years
— current taxation — BNER 1A (49) -
— deferred taxation — EEFIA 57 (50)
301 202

Non-deductible expenses mainly relate to depreciation of non-
qualifying property, plant and equipment.

Cayman Islands
The Company is not subject to taxes on profit, income or
dividends in the Cayman Islands.

BVI
The subsidiary in BVI, SPP Investments, is not subject to
income tax as it is tax exempted under the laws of BVI.

Singapore

The corporate income tax rate applicable to the principal
operating subsidiary in Singapore, Sunlight Paper, is 17%
(2023: 17%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R

for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

21

22

Earnings per Share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share was
based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of
$735,000 (2023: $650,000), and a weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding of 800,000,000 (2023:
800,000,000).

Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per
share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares
outstanding in the financial years ended 30.9.2024 and
30.9.2023.

Equity-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions

The Company has a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) which was approved and adopted by the
shareholders of the Company by way of written resolutions
passed on 21.3.2018. No share option has been granted since
the commencement of the Share Option Scheme.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme:

(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to selected participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
Company.

(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme and

eligibility criteria

The eligible persons of the Share Option Scheme to
whom options may be granted by the Board shall include
any directors, employee, executives, officers, suppliers,
customers, consultants, agents, advisers, joint venture
partners and related entities, who at the absolute
discretion of the Board, has contributed to the Group
(“Eligible Person”).

21

22

SRR F

BREAREERFNDREBLTBRKRR
JEE &% F1) 785,000 7T (2023 & : 650,000 7T)
RBEATIEING E B R A N T 15
800,000,000 f% (2023 4 : 800,000,000 f% )

.
ATE -

MR A £22024F9 A30H M202349 A30
A I F SN E TN B S
Bl A ESRBE/FEERERNZF
E(I

At s i B A B D B E R
AR

ARA AV — R R B (TR 8 )) -
TN IR R BV AR 2 TR 20184 3
A21 BEBEERERIAERRM - OB
BRARE BIBIRALAZR - HEARIE AR -

AT ABRE BT 2Rz ME

(a) BRESENER
BREA S EEEA QR AEES
BATROBERE  ERARFHAR
A FT{E R B RO B2 B 3k Bl 3% -

(b) BRESTESEATREEREE

AEEES R TRRE BRETS
AERSEATREZTSLRENER
REASEELERE - BREETH
5% EE 1THAR S&RBE-
HEm - TP &@A REE
- EEBHLARER((AERA
e
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#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEHMBFE

22 Equity-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Maximum number of Shares available for
subscription

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed
80,000,000, representing 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue as at the date of these consolidated
financial statements.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each Eligible Person
(including both exercised and outstanding options under
the Share Option Scheme) in any 12-month period (when
aggregated with any Shares subject to options granted
during such period under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company other than those options
granted pursuant to specific approval by the Shareholders
in a general meeting) must not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

Where any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director or any of their
respective associates would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) under the Share Option
Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant: (i) representing in
aggregate more than 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (i)
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of each grant, in
excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options must
be approved by the Shareholders.
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for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

22 Equity-settled Share-based Payment 22 URERGEEURND BERNN

Transactions (Continued) AR 5 (&

() Time of exercise of option (e) 1THEBBREMNR
An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 2EATARERDERENELNH
days from the date of the offer of grant of the option. An HifBRTo8 B NN E RN E - B8
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of 15 8 AT 74 e i e HUA i s e AR 4 8 PR 7
the Share Option Scheme at any time during the option FTEIZIRRATIE - AR EATE JE
period. After the expiration of the option period, no further & BMAFEORDSE L ERE
options shall be offered or granted but the provisions of fEAR i - MR AT B 2 IR EFT B
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and Hiv mEBDAETRRAORMA - &£
effect in all other respects. Options granted during the life BRI AR Sz A AT
of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to be HEIE - E+FEHMEREEURE
exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant after RS M 2 AR ABTTIE

the end of the ten-year period.

()  Subscription price (n REE

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option R IRIE AR AT B3 L AU BB IR AE P
granted under the Share Option Scheme, subject to any W RN B REE (RERERET S
adjustments made in accordance with the Share Option ATFHRE)AEEC2ENBEETN
Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute B HBBER TS ERTI&ES
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall BORODABRTDERERIR(VER
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the CEH)EHEBIMERRERMN
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations HWUCTHE & (i) D R BB T B
sheet on the date of grant of the option (which must be a RE(WAEAE¥H)AAGEA
Business Day); (i) the average closing price of the Shares 2T A MERTW I H
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet B RiiyRHhEE - #AaELER
for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date BHEREZRE1.008T -

of grant of the option (which must be a Business Day);
and (i) the nominal value of the Shares. A consideration
of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the offer of the
grant of an option.
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22 Equity-settled Share-based Payment 22

Transactions (Continued)

(g) Life of the Share Option Scheme
The Company may, by ordinary resolution in general
meeting, or the Board may at any time terminate the
operation of the Share Option Scheme and in such event
no further option shall be offered or granted but in all
other respects the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect and options granted
prior to such termination shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
Subject to the aforesaid, the Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing from the date of adoption, after which
period no further options will be offered or granted but the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect in all other respects with respect to
options granted during the life of the Share Option
Scheme.

23 Significant Related Party Transactions 23
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, there were no significant related party transactions
for the financial years ended 30.9.2024 and 30.9.2023.

24 Commitments 24
Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for as at the end of the reporting
period but not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements is as follows:

At m B AR RER BN

N oN

TAX
(9)

ESPN

2 ()

BRETENERE™
ARA(BEBERRAGEBERR
AR)NEFGUNERARMRLE
iRt BIREE - BRI EHENE
kR R - BRI &R
AR ERES TRR N RE
X MBS LRI AR
RS A AR R P B R B R B AU
A TIT6E o A LMERRT - BAUE
sHElf R B R T FRAMRE
M HETSBENR B SR HER
1 - B RBRAE ST B ISR BB AR AT B
BRHARHNBEEMSEMBE
77 EAS 455 T R AR

FET RS

MR e B MAE MU T PAREE N 1
B £2024F9A30H K&2023F9A30H
L BFERBEERBETRS -

AHE

BEAXRERE
RIEBHREFTHERNEE P HRKE
AR EARFAT

2024 2023
2024 2023
$’000 $°000
Tr Tt
Capital commitments in respect of E - BEAREERS
property, plant and equipment BARAEYE - 119
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25 Operating Segments

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker, who
is the Group’s CEOQO, for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of performance is specifically focused on the key
products sold, namely, tissue products and hygiene-related
products.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is
included below. Performance is measured based on the
following bases, as included in the internal management reports
that are reviewed by the Group’s CEO. Both segment revenue
and profit are used to measure performance as management
believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating
the level of activities and results of these segments.

° Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments.
Assistance provided by one segment to another, including
sharing of assets, is not measured.

° The measure used for reporting segment profit is gross
profit.

° Management considers the disclosure of segment assets
and liabilities for tissue products, hygiene-related products
and others respectively is not practical and not
meaningful. Hence, no disclosure of segment assets and
liabilities has been made.

25

PO aNEvi
%%Eﬁ? DB

mMEZEERKE(ANRERTHRER)E
HEHBORDEERLNERE - 5
EFRRFEREER  MEEEERRE
AHERAEM o

o

ERBME2RDHHEEEREINWT -

RREMBEE gﬂi’ilﬁﬁzi‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’\]?ﬂ
MEEBENTINEEFE - DBl

m MG RERT XA - A Eiﬁ%@ffﬁﬁéiﬁ
ERRHEZENEEBKEREEST T

=AAR

o  WHEERAXINSEANZHRNMAES
W KkAX D EEEME o L&
Koz TRt By - B AHE
o

o EHNEEFNFAAFEERERSER -

. ERERLRZEREFEAER &

EHEEEMmMEMOBEERAGBL

TERMEEE - Flt - ERES
HEERBE-

. In addition to receiving segment information concerning o BRIESE D ZEMNE D EBERIN -
segment profit, management is provided with segment BEEERRHEABUEN D BER -
information concerning revenue.

For management reporting purposes, the following operating EnEBES

segments are grouped according to different type of products:

° Tissue products — toilet tissue, hand towels, napkins and
facial tissue.

o Hygiene related products — hygiene wipes, hygiene

BHERER
MR E AR o

— RUAREK - FH& B

e  HAEMMER — HERRMA HE

gloves and industrial wipes. FERIEEHA -
There are no operating segments that have been aggregated to PG PHE & 5 S AR Ll ] 2 3R &
form the above reportable operating segments. paN:i
2024 5 ) BX (1977) ERBRDF
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25 Operating Segments (Continued) 25 KeEDE
Hygiene-
Tissue related
products products Others Total
BE
BELER HEER Hit st
$000 $'000 $'000 $000
T T T T
2024 2024 F
Revenue from external REINEBRF R
customers and reportable KAl 2y E e
segment revenue 12,485 886 690 14,061
Segment profit 285 F 4,179 377 248 4,804
2023 2023 F
Revenue from external REAIMNPEF B
customers and reportable eI e
segment revenue 13,013 894 689 14,596
Segment profit 7 2B F 3,929 369 236 4,534
Reconciliations of reportable segment profit Al 28 2 0% R K BR
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
$°000 $000
Tr T
Reportable segment profit Al 2 ¥ 5 &0k A 4,804 4,534
Other income HA YA 111 70
Unallocated expenses FoBERAX (3,869) (3,742)
Interest expenses FEm% (10) (10)
Consolidated profit before taxation RA BB AR F 1,036 852
The Group’s revenue arises from external customers located in REBHW R B R RFTINERIINEE S ©
Singapore. The Group carries out its operations in Singapore REBRIINEHEITEE  BEASKEMAE
and all of the Group’s non-current assets are located in FEMENE N AR N o
Singapore.
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25 Operating Segments (Continued) 25 eEDE
Major customers FEERF
The following are major customers with revenue equal to or AT AREBIZE 2024 9 A 30 A 2 2023 4F 9
more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue for the financial A0 R M BFEAEBBKERER
years ended 30.9.2024 and 30.9.2023: LER10% M EERF
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
$°000 $000
Ft T
Customer A 25 A 2,521 2,507
Customer B ZFB 1,439 1,613
3,960 4,120
26 Subsidiaries 26 HEBRAR]
Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the financial year are: RARHRFERNMBARFER
Country of
incorporation/
Principal place
of business Particulars of
and form issued and fully
of business paid up share
Name Principal activities structure capital Percentage of equity held
HMALER/
TEERHER  BEOR
&R TEEK ERRRKS  BERANGEE FrERERD L

2024 2023
2024 5 2023

Held by the Company HALAAMER

SPP Investments Limited ©®  SPP Investments Limited @  Investment holding BVI/Singapore,  $1 100% 100%
REBR limited liability
company
LBRLES/
Mg BRER
]
Held by SPP Investments  F3 SPP Investments
Limited Limited 7
Sunlight Paper Products Sunlight Paper Products  Supply of tissue products to Singapore/ $580,000 100% 100%
Pte. Ltd. © Pte. Ltd. © corporate customers Singapore,
MEERPHEGSEAER  limited liability
company
s/ Fng -
BREEAT
@ Not required to be audited @ BETUEZ
© Audited by Foo Kon Tan LLP, a principal member firm of HLB ® F1Foo Kon Tan LLP CAEEIE = ER E R
International EDEZA

2024 F# / B (1977) ERBERATE
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies

The Group has documented financial risk management policies.
These policies set out the Group’s overall business strategies
and its risk management philosophy. The Group is exposed to

27

B 755 b 38 B AR SRR

REBEA X R BEBREREE - &
SHERPARENEREHRRRAA
REEITS o Ak B E G LN A

financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial BTASIENMERER - FZUFRKRE
instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity EEERR - &SRR - FIXEAR -
risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and market price SNEREBR TS ERRER - AEBAEE

risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

R EEFERERRTRERTEHT
AEREEL  YHKRESRTZHT

minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial AIEREEHAEEMBRIRABRK 2T
markets on the Group’s financial performance. Mz -

The Group’s risk management policies are established to

A SR [ 1 [ B I RO B AR B AN 0 A AR

identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set SEAEROER - W% EEE R RERRS
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and Azl b LA B R B & B R HI S0 E A -
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are [Efs BRI R R oA E BETER AR

reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and
management standards and procedures, aims to develop a
disciplined and constructive control environment in which all
employees understand their roles and obligations.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these
financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures
the risks. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity
analysis for interest rate risk (Note 27.3) and foreign currency
risk (Note 27.4).

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes or to hedge against
fluctuations, if any, in interest rates and foreign exchange.
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)

27.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial
instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause
the Group to incur a financial loss. The Group’s exposure
to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other
receivables. For trade receivables, the Group adopts the
practice of dealing only with those customers of
appropriate credit history, and obtaining sufficient security
where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other
financial assets, the Group adopts the policy of dealing
only with high credit quality counterparties.

The Group’s objective is to seek continual growth while
minimising losses incurred due to increased credit risk
exposure.

The Group has established a credit policy under which
the creditworthiness of each new customer is evaluated
individually before the Group grants credit to the
customer. Credit limits are established for each customer,
which represents the maximum open amount without
requiring approval from the directors. Payments will be
required to be made upfront by customers which do not
meet the Group’s credit requirements.

Amounts due from customers are closely monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis to identify any non-payment
or delay in payment, and to understand the reasons, so
that appropriate actions can be taken promptly. Through
on-going credit monitoring and existing collection
procedures in place, credit risk is mitigated substantially.

The Group’s trade receivables comprise three major
debtors (2023: six major debtors), which individually
represent more than 5% of the Group’s trade receivables
as at 30.9.2024. The aggregate balance of the major
debtors represent 36% (2023: 51%) of trade receivables.

Amount not paid after the credit period granted will be
considered past due. The credit terms granted to
customers are based on the Group’s assessment of their
creditworthiness and in accordance with the Group’s

policy.

27 HEEREIR B RBUER ®)

2741 =EER

EERRRZEVMBH AN —TTEREE
FEITE 5 M SRR SR E E E R 1R
HER - AEEEENEERRETE
KEEHMEMEYIR - SLE 5 &
WA s - ARENBUEREREE
BERBRIENEPRS  UHEEER
RTERBFE D NREAREEER
B W EMUBEE - AEBEMIK

RRERSEEEZRNHEFIETR
5 o

REEMHEIZARBIGSERINNFE
B A Rz B R IE AN E £ W 5
8o

AEBDAIMEERR Bt A%
B EPRTERASHEEHE
P EBETERNE - SREFY
BREEERSE  REBAKESHAE
MREAEESR THAAKERE
BEERNEFPRIESTEXFIA -

AEBEZERLEREHELREP
IR - AR AR FOR S B B
oW THETRRA - {EMERRER

HEETY EBFENEEERNR
BB RER EERBREAER
& °

AERMNE BB FBERE=[AX2
BEIEA(2023%F : NEEXBEBA)
ARMEASEEHZE2024F9A30H
NESEBIBBRNS% A L - FEE
T8 A B AARREE(G FE W E 5 RR 5RH) 36%
(20234 : 51%) °

R S B B AT AR ST B9 R
BRal  BRTIEFPHNEERDER
REBHEEE BN EERRKM

.
T °
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 27 B RER B IR B AR MR (g)
Policies (Continued)

27.1 Credit risk (Continued) 271 =ERRK (&)

The Group has trade and other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents that are subject to the ECL model. While
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents are
subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss is insignificant.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring ECLs which uses a lifetime ECL allowance for
all trade receivables.

To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. The expected loss rates are based on
the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months
and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the trade receivables. The Group has
identified gross domestic product and the unemployment
rate of the countries in which it operates to be the most
relevant factors and accordingly adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, among
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group.

Other receivables

Loss allowance for other receivables is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs except for an amount of
$37,000 (2023: $37,000), which is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The ECLs on the
remaining other receivables are estimated by reference to
track record of the counterparties, their business and
financial conditions where information is available, and
knowledge of any events or circumstances impeding
recovery of the amounts. At the end of the reporting
period, the Group assessed the credit exposure of these
remaining other receivables to be insignificant.
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

271

27.2

Credit risk (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is held with banks which are regulated. Loss
allowance on cash and cash equivalents is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs and reflects the short
maturities of the exposures. The Group considers that its
bank balances have low credit risk based on the external
credit ratings of the counterparties. The amount of loss
allowance on cash and cash equivalents is negligible.

Exposure to credit risk

As the Group does not hold any collateral, the maximum
exposure to credit risk for each class of financial
instruments is the carrying amount of that class of
financial instruments presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group’s major classes of financial assets are bank
deposits and trade receivables. Cash is held with
established financial institutions. Further details of credit
risks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note
7.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated
with financial instruments that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk may result
from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to
its fair value.

The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and
liabilities. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of stand-by credit facilities.

27 BiigR ke

27.1

27.2

0 e 1 B AR IR ()

FERME (&)

He RAZEZEY
ReFREXEENIRT - RE MR
TEEYHNBREFREN12(EA
BEMEEBRNESETE  YRRE
RO REHEIHE - RIERXZHTF
HIMBIEER AR AEERASERT
BRNEERRBRE -HERREH
ENNERERSERN BIRTE -

A e 1= BB

DA e N oy SRR CIE v il I
BERHNVBTAARNRSEERR
RIEAMBARRAKRMENZEBHHET
EeiREE

REBHEE
R HE 5 WK
EH TS
MEERRE—

M EERR RIRITF
RIE o REF N ER

B 5 K H A EUGRIR
i%i’l%?ﬁ?éﬁ’wﬁ‘f? °

ﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬁ
RBECAREAEENERED I
ﬁEW%IEWW%?MﬁL INE
B H—UMHEEETTEN T @R
$#MRERE - RBE R EELNSE
BEXRMBEEAFEBOSES
HRRHEMES -

AEBERSORBESRBEENRS
MBEERBBIHESHEOER - A
SENERAEBEREREERE
RFESHBELEBETME ZMNF
fay o
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 27 BIFSEREIE BAZ MBUR (@)
Policies (Continued)
27.2 Liquidity risk (Continued) 272 REBELEAR(FE)
The table below analyses the maturity profile of the TROMAEEIZREHARMIRIRER
Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual EHENVBABNREBER
undiscounted cash flows:
Contractual
Carrying undiscounted Lessthan  Between 1 More than
amount cash flows 1year and>5years 5years
BNRER 15%
REE ReRe 15/ B5%FR WBiB5E
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T
2024 2024 %
Non-derivative financial F T4 HHARE
liabilities
Lease liability (Note 13) HEAE(RE13) 178 (195) (33) (128) (34)
Trade and other payables® & 5 & E o fE S 518 *
(Note 14) (Fitz:14) 1,206 (1,206) (1,206) - -
1,384 (1,401) (1,239) (128) (34)
2023 2023 F
Non-derivative financial JEfT4BIBEE
liabilities
Lease liability (Note 13) BEAE(RFE13) 202 (229) (33 (129) 67)
Trade and other payables® &5 & H it e 5018 *
(Note 14) (FzE14) 1,460 (1,460) (1,460) - -
1,662 (1,689) (1,499) (129) 67)

*

Excluding net output tax

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the
maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at
significantly different amounts.

The Group ensures that there are adequate funds to meet
all its obligations in a timely and cost-effective manner.
The Group maintains sufficient level of cash and cash
equivalents and has available adequate amount of
committed credit facilities from financial institutions to
meet its working capital requirements.
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

27.3

27.4

27

SRR EIE B IENMBGR (&)

Interest rate risk 27.3 FIRE
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future MERBRAREEGFTENRFE
cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will SARKIBEREAT S REEHMmH
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. TR B AR ©
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily AREEFEENHNZRBIERS
from bank balances at floating rates. Lease liability bears FERRITAER - HEBBEIRETE M=
interest at fixed rates. All other financial assets and AR -MMBEEMMBEERABER
liabilities are interest-free. B8 e
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of REER - srEF B TANEEE
the interest-bearing financial instruments is as follows: N
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
$’000 $'000
Ft F
Fixed rate instruments EETITA
Financial liabilities MEaE
— lease liability —HEAE (178) (202)
(178) (202)
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments EETABN FEHEEST
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial REBWEARNABEFEEEE
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. AR BEEAEATEE MR EER
Therefore, a change in interest rates at the end of the 8fE - Bt MERKRFEEHTE
reporting period would not affect profit or loss. FEER o
The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest AN B Y BUR BTSN 2 @ b 7Y
rates available without increasing its interest rate exposure. BRTESHERRE -
Foreign currency risk 27.4 SMEER

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. Foreign currency risk arises when
transactions are denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising
from transactions that are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries, Singapore dollar (“SGD”). The foreign
currency in which these transactions are denominated is
primarily United States dollar (“USD”) and Hong Kong
dollar (“HKD”).

HNERBE R T TAEBEREXRZES
MKERER - B X5 AINERHE -
g MBRINERER -

AEBRAARBRENBARDEE
BRI IR TAIMEETHENR 5
MERIZUEEERR - ZEXHE
ELARTRABTTEHE
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 27 BIFSEREIE BAZ MBUR (@)
Policies (Continued)
27.4 Foreign currency risk (Continued) 27.4 SMEREBE (B)
Consequently, the Group is exposed to movements in it - SR [ EER /NS T = B Eh Ay R
foreign currency exchange rates. % o
The Group’s exposures in financial instruments to various REBPY T AmMBNSEINER
foreign currencies are as follows: ST
uUsbD HKD
E3 BT
$'000 $000
Tt T
2024 2024
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEZEY - 14
Trade and other payables 5 N EMERRIE - -
2023 2023 F
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEZHEY - 10
Trade and other payables Z 5N EHAMRENRIA (139) -
Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk SNE R i B9 UK Z T
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRINRIEMEEMSETERNIBR
reasonably possible change in the USD and HKD T AEBEMBRBIEREREES
exchange rates (against SGD), with all other variables held HETLBT(HIIET) HEIE
constant, of the Group’s results net of tax and equity. Al RE B B MBS o
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
$’000 $°000
Ft F
USD — strengthened 5% (2023: 5%) 7t — FHE5% (20234 : 5%) - 7
— weakened 5% (2023: 5%) — BB 5% (20234 : 5%) - 7
HKD — strengthened 5% (2023: 5%) #t — FHES5% (20234 : 5%) 1 1
— weakened 5% (2023: 5%) — BB 5% (20234 : 5%) 1 1
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 27 BIFSEREIE BAZ MBUR (@)
Policies (Continued)
27.5 Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the value of a financial

27.5 MiGEERK

mEERRER MBS TEEEATS
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices. BRESHMESORE -
N2 BN A (] T AT B
BITA - R mEERE(A IS ERS
BEHE R o

The Group does not hold any quoted or marketable
financial instruments, hence, is not exposed to any
movement in market prices.

28 Capital Management 28 BEAXRER

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are: AEEBEEESNEES

(@ To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going @ IREAREBERFELEES
concern;

(b)  To support the Group’s stability and growth; b)) ZRFAEENBEREER:

(c) To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the € IREEARAIMEALEEHER SRR

Group’s risk management capability; and Rk

(d)  To provide an adequate return to shareholders. 0 AREREFTEDEHR-

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future capital
requirements of the Group, and capital efficiency, prevailing and
projected profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities. The Group currently does not adopt any formal
dividend policy.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital
management during the financial year.

AEEERERBRT RERLERER
W EEBAREBRNEAFTREEAYE
BRI LA ANE S EHEERSR
B FAHEAHXIANFEHREIRERS
RUABREBRENEAEBRBRDE -
ANER B B A SR BV IE S EBR

AEBHERER T HPN A BEE AL
R o
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28 Capital Management (Continued)
The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt comprises
lease liability and trade and other payables, less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capital represents equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

28

BREIR (#)
AEELET BB AT, o

AREFAEER S FERER - DF
R DA B A IS (7 o F TS 45T
ERERE SR AT HEAR S
ReSE/Y - EREAD TRHA AR
S -

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F

Note $°000 $°000

s Ft T
Lease liability HEAE 13 178 202
Trade and other payables B 5N E b ERA FE 14 1,296 1,554
Total debt AETS 1,474 1,756
Less: Cash and cash equivalents & : & RS EEY 8 (3,453) (1,722)
Net debt B FHE (1,979) 34
Equity attributable to owners of KN EHER AELEE

the Company 18,191 16,828

Total capital and net debt BERREFEE 16,212 16,862
Gearing ratio EAREGEL R = 0.2%

A

not meaningful
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29 Financial Instruments 29 BIBIA
Accounting classifications of financial assets and MBEEERVEEENETSE

financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities ERNVBEERVBAGNREERNT

in each category are as follows:

Other financial

Amortised liabilities at
cost amortised cost Total
RS R AR
L p=tii]
B8 A B¥aE Fo
Note $°000 $'000 $°000
BiaE F Fr Fr
2024 2024 F
Financial assets MREE
Trade and other receivables* & 5 & E kb fE g * 2,245 - 2,245
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 3,453 - 3,453
5,698 - 5,698
Financial liabilities HEasE
Lease liability MHEEE 13 - (178) (178)
Trade and other payables* B REMENRIE 14 - (1,206) (1,206)
- (1,384) (1,384)
2023 2023
Financial assets BREE
Trade and other receivables* & 5 [ E 4t fiE e 5718 * 2,437 - 2,437
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 1,722 - 1,722
4,159 - 4,159
Financial liabilities B S=F
Lease liability MEEE 13 N (202) (202)
Trade and other payables* B 5 REMEN B 14 - (1,460) (1,460)
- (1,662) (1,662)

*

suppliers

# Excluding net output tax

Excluding government grant receivable and advances to

* TEFERE AT &S T AR 2R

# TEEHERER
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29 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Fair values

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables (excluding
government grant receivable and advances to suppliers), cash
and cash equivalents, and trade and other payables (excluding
net output tax) approximate their fair values due to their
short-term or repayable on demand nature where the effect of
discounting is insignificant.

The fair value disclosure of lease liability is not required.

30 Dividends

No dividends were declared for the financial years ended
30.9.2024 and 30.9.2023.
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for financial year ended 30.9.2024
#HE2024F9 A30 8 IEMBFE

31 Statement of Financial Position and Reserves of 31 ZANA T &R & i

the Company
31.1 Statement of Financial Position at 30.9.2024 31.1 BHMRRTNAR20245F9H30H
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
$°000 $'000
Fx FT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in subsidiary R—ERBARNEE = =
Current assets REEE
Amount due from a subsidiary (non-trade) gl —EIM B AR ZIE (EB H) 5,361 5,534
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkBESEED 14 9
Total assets BEHATE 5,375 5,543
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals HEMEMNSRIERESEA 15 16
15 16
Net current assets REEEZFHE 5,360 5,527
Total assets less current liabilities EEZLZERABAR 5,360 5,527
Net assets BEZE 5,360 5,527
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of EAREEAEEER
the Company
Share capital &N 1,338 1,338
Reserves fEiE 4,022 4,189
Total equity LB 5,360 5,527
* less than $1,000 A 141,0007T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2024

BZE 202449 A0 HIEMBFE

31 Statement of Financial Position and Reserves of 31 ZNA BB &AL 2= & B ()
the Company (Continued)
31.2 Reserves 31.2 f##E

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
B 635 B E5iip = st
$'000 $'000 $'000
T T Fr
Balance at 1.10.2022 7"2022F1081H
2R 6,221 (1,834) 4,387
Loss for the year, representing FANEE - IBFRNEE
total comprehensive loss for EiaERE
the year - (198) (198)
Balance at 30.9.2023 7202359 H30H
ok -7 6,221 (2,032) 4,189
Balance at 1.10.2023 #A2023F1081H
2R 6,221 (2,032) 4,189
Loss for the year, representing FABE - BFATE
total comprehensive loss for B R4
the year - (167) (167)
Balance at 30.9.2024 7"202459A30H
ZEEER 6,221 (2,199) 4,022
The statement of financial position of the Company was RABNBEARNAREBEEZT 2R 2024 F
approved by the Board on 13 December 2024 and was signed 12 413 BHtE  IKRREZEHE -
on its behalf.
Chua Liang Sie Chua Liang Chui
ERE BERP
Director Director
BF BE
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

~ ot WA
B EREE
RESULTS E5
Financial year ended 30 September/E,Z9 A 30 B It B BEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
$’000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fx Tt Tt Tt T
Revenue W& 14,061 14,596 12,020 11,766 13,227
Profit for the year F % F 735 650 260 246 397
Total comprehensive FAEHE M =S
income for the year Pkl 1,363 453 404 283 538
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 30 September/R9 A 30 H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
$’000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Frx T T Tt T
Total assets BERRE 21,785 20,317 19,176 21,014 26,232
Total liabilities BEERE (3,594) (3,489) (2,801) (5,043) (10,544)
Total equity iR 18,191 16,828 16,375 15,971 15,688
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

In this report, the following expressions shall have the meanings set out below unless the context requires otherwise.

EARRET - BRIEXERBFE - T

“AGM”
[ERAEAFKE]

“Articles” or “Articles of Association”

[ARRN ) 3 [ E 2 AmAY )

“ASEAN”
R

“associate(s)”

(B2 A

“Audit Committee”

[BIZEE

JI0
i3

=3

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

[E=g)

“Board Committee(s)” or “Committee”

[E=gZBgl 282

“BVI”
[RBRELES]

“CG Code”

[EERST A

“Chairman” or “our Chairman”

[EE S [ARBER]

“China” or “PRC”

[FE

“close associate(s)”
[ERIEE A

AEBMTRE

annual general meeting of the Company

AABRREFAE

articles of association of our Company adopted on 21.3.2018 and which
became effective on the Listing Date, as amended from time to time
#2018F 3 A21 BE M KA L B HARRAMA AR el A =2 (T RHEET)

the Association of Southeast Asia Nations
REmERES

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
BB GEM iR AlfE T 8% &

the audit committee of our Board, established on 21.3.2018 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision C.3.3 of the CG Code
EEFGETERZES  MN2018F3A21 AKX - WIRMEEIATREC.3.3
=T BIME ST 3 TE Il 5T AL E T R 46 ]

the board of Directors of our Company
AAREEE

the committee of our Board

Exg%8e

the British Virgin Islands
KBRS

the code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules
GEM TR AT 8+ RFTE bR E/a<FRIE 2 BH<FRIEX

the chairman of our Board
EERERE

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this report and for
geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
REARAME  ptAREmME REHRMIELEMS - TEEEE  RFIRE

ek
=

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
H7A GEM L5 AP iR T H) 8 &
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BEREMNAR

“Companies Ordinance”
[ AR

» o«

“Company”,

»

our Company”, “we” or “us”

(AR =[5

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ 4% R s R
“core connected person(s)”
(2O REAL]

“Deed of Non-competition”
[ P24 |
“Director(s)”

[E%]

“ESC”

[N EREE S |
“GEM”

[GEM]

“GEM Listing Rules”

[GEM Emi#i 81

“GHG”

No Pt
= R |

the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or modified from time to time
BARERT - MASUSHEHEBENE 622 & 2 wHEDI

Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited ( B ¥¢ (1977) #ERR B R A R)), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21.9.2017 with limited
liability
BX A7) IERAR AR - $2017F 9 A21 BERERSTMR UM ERRE
R A

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules and unless the
context requires otherwise, refers to Mr. LS Chua, Mr. LC Chua and YJH
Group. Mr. LS Chua, Mr. LC Chua and YJH Group are a group of controlling
shareholders

BB GEM ETHRIFT TEVRE - IRIEXESEE  BEREBLELE  ERP
FERYIHER - BRBEA ZRPEERYIHEER S —EERRS

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
BB GEM LR BIFT TR =

the deed of non-competition dated 21.3.2018 and executed by our
Controlling Shareholders in favour of our Company (for ourselves and as
trustee for our subsidiaries)
ERBERUAERBARZ DA (BARRRIERENBARMNZEA) A5 B
7201843 A21 AW THFRIE

the director(s) of our Company

RRRER

Forest Stewardship Council, a global not-for-profit organization that sets the
standards for what is a responsibly managed forest, both environmentally

and socially
AMERZE®  BIRIFLFAEH  EHFTHeRIBRER FAEENRNKE
BRE

GEM operated by the Stock Exchange
Fh 56 22 P& (E Y GEM

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM, as amended,
supplemented or modified from time to time
AFHEE] ~ AR EWMMGEME S L3 Al

green house gas

W B = e

/m 2 RUH
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

» o« [T

“Group”, “our Group”, “we”,

[RE&EE | 5[ #MA)

HHKDH OI’ nHK$n
&)

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
[&E]

“IFRSs”
[EIPR B T sR & 2R

“independent third party(ies)”
[ E=7]

“jumbo roll tissue” or “JRT”
[ REFEBHEE]

“KPI”
[EAsAE 4513 ]

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Date”
[ ETHEH]

“Main Board”

[ER]

“Memorandum” or “Memorandum of
Association”
[ K40 sk [4BEERE K40 )

our” or “us”

our Company and our subsidiaries or, where the context so requires, with
respect to the period before which our Company became the holding
company of our current subsidiaries, our Company’s current subsidiaries or
the businesses operated by such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as the
case may be)

RARREWBRAE M XEZEME  RARBKABEREWNBRRMNE
BABZATEE - BIEEARFREMNBEARKZEMBE AR REAN S 2 E (R
BESRTE ) EATHI TS

Hong Kong dollars and cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEREEEHE TR

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of PRC
PEEEFATTHE

International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board
BIFR & 512 A1 B & R a) IR W 75 S 5 2R

party(ies) which are not connected person(s) of our Company
WIEARNBIREEATHAL

toilet tissue that is commonly used in public toilet cubicles of commercial
buildings
B EAE NRE BRI

key performance indicators
BB E SRR

the listing of the Shares on GEM
f& A7 GEM L

16.4.2018, the date on which the Shares are listed on GEM
2018 4 A16 A ’HH GEM £ H) A &5

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM. For
the avoidance of doubt, the Main Board excludes GEM

B EENRER S (T REMETS) - BN GEMILEEWITERE - B
REH - TIRTBIEGEM

memorandum of association of our Company adopted on 21.3.2018 and which
became effective on the Listing Date, as amended from time to time
RARR2018E3 A21 BERMHEBERARNM - B F T HERER - KT

CH|
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BEREMNAR

“Mr. LC Chua”

[BERPEAE]

“Mr. LS Chua”

[HREBRAE]
“Mr. WH Chua”
[E3085% 4]
“Mr. WJ Chua”
[BEXX R
“MYR” or “RM”

£

4

“Nomination Committee’

“paper pulp” or “pulp”

[#R4R

“Previous Year”

[E—5FE]

Mr. Chua Liang Chui (23 8 55t &), an executive Director, one of our Controlling
Shareholders, the younger brother of Mr. LS Chua and uncle of Mr. WH Chua
and Mr. WJ Chua

WITESHREP —BIERBRER PILE - AERBILENREBREUELE
RESRFE R

Mr. Chua Liang Sie (23 R % 5t 4), an executive Director, chairman of our
Board and chief executive officer of our Company and one of our Controlling
Shareholders, the elder brother of Mr. LC Chua, and the father of Mr. WH
Chua and Mr. WJ Chua

WITEE FEERIRRAAFTRAHRAT —ZERBRRERBEE - ”
BRBEENR IR SOE R E RESURE LR

Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao) (%2 3% 5E &), an executive Director,
the son of Mr. LS Chua, the nephew of Mr. LC Chua and the elder brother of
Mr. WJ Chua

WITESEUERE  BAERELAANTEFURBER PEENERREXRE
AR

Mr. Chua Wenijie (alias Cai Wenjie) (23X R4t 4E), an executive Director, the
son of Mr. LS Chua, the nephew of Mr. LC Chua and the younger brother of
Mr. WH Chua

BITESEENNEE  RERBEENERFULRER BAENER REXER
Ea:o)iIES

Malaysian dollars and cents, the lawful currency of Malaysia
BARFAIEEE S RAE T &L

the nomination committee of our Board, established on 21.3.2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision B.3.1 of the CG
Code

EERRTHIREZEE - N2018F 3 A21 B - Wik ¥ E/ATRIFB.3.1
16<F BIME ST 3 TE Il 5T B S T R 46 ]

per annum or per year
BF

the raw material used to produce tissue paper, which includes recycle pulp,
soft wood pulp, hard wood pulp, virgin pulp, fluff pulp and mixed pulp
FERBERMBEME - BIEEIWRATER - BURMR  BARE  RAEMARE A&
ERMOBAHE

financial year ended 30.9.2023
HE2023F9 A0 B ILHHFE
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“Prospectus”
[ARER]

“Relevant Year”
[BEEFE] X [HEFE]

“Remuneration Committee”

EdiES

i

2|

“Reorganisation”

[E#]

“Required Standard of Dealings”

[R5 HFIRE]

“Restricted Business”

[ 52 PR %75 ]

“SFO”

[ & 7 N B8 1401 |

“SGD” or “S$” or “$”
[T sk [7T)

“Share(s)”

[Bfn ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ MR ]

“Share Offer”
[ fn 35 ]

the prospectus of the Company dated 27.3.2018
AREIAHIA20184F 3 A 27 HAJBRERR

financial year ended 30.9.2024
HZE2024F9 AS0HIEHMBFE

the remuneration committee of our Board, established on 21.3.2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG
Code

EZERTHNHFNZES - R2018F3A21 A - WIRDFEEATAIFEA2
16<F BIME ST 5 T Il 5T B E T I 46 ]

the corporate reorganisation of our Group in preparation for the Listing as
described under the section “History, Reorganisation and Corporate
Structure — Reorganisation” of the Prospectus
AEEREHBELTMETHAREMR  FEFIRNBRER[ESL EERAT
B — =MHE] &

the required standard of dealings regarding securities transactions by the
Directors as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
GEM ERAIFE 548 Z 567 IRFIHEFTHETESF R FHNRH L FIRE

any business and related business activities engaged by our Group

ZAS SE TR S0 FERCIE VIS IEL R 0T

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
as amended, supplemented or modified from time to time
BEREEGRMN (BEBENEST1E) - L TREE] - Mrsisk

Singapore dollar(s), the lawful currency of Singapore
AR GBI KT

ordinary share(s) of par value HK$0.01 each in the share capital of our
Company
N BIRRA R FRREE 0.01 B r) AR

holder(s) of Shares
BROFA A

the public offer and placing of Shares in connection with the Listing
R ETAREE R ERD
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BEREMNAR

“Share Option Scheme”
[ & NwEst 2l
“Singapore”

[ 03 |

“SPP Investments”

[ SPP Investments |
“sq.m.”

(75K

“Stock Exchange” or “SEHK”
[t 32 PR |

“subsidiary(ies)”
RG1EVNSIR

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”
[FERE]

“Sunlight Paper”

[ Sunlight Paper |

“United States” or “U.S.”

3=

“USD” or “US$”
=

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by our Company on
21.3.2018, a summary of principal terms of which is set out in “E. Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix V to the Prospectus

RARRKR2018F3 A 21 A AR RGN BIREE - EE2RFTM2EANA
RERMIEE A [E BRERT S

the Republic of Singapore
3TN HEA

SPP Investments Limited, a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability
on 6.10.2017 and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

SPP Investments Limited * 742017 F 10 A6 B E R B R ZHETMAINER
N BRARRNEZZEMBE AR

square metre(s)

Frok

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBAZHMBERIDF]

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Companies Ordinance
BB REGDIPTRE TR

a Shareholder within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
HaEFMEGEIEXV A2 EE IR

Sunlight Paper Products Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in Singapore
with limited liability on 8.7.1977 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
our Company

Sunlight Paper Products Pte. Ltd. - 741977 &7 A 8 BAEF I M I A9 E R
NE REARFNEEZENE LA

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction

ENRAaRE  HEL  HBMEXEREEENMETE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EEEEE®BET
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“YJH Group” YJH Group Limited, a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability on
31.8.2017, one of our Controlling Shareholders, and is owned as to
approximately 82.76% by Mr. LS Chua and 17.24% by Mr. LC Chua.

[YIHEE ] YJH Group Limited * 720178 A31 B ERBERE X ESTMRXUMNARAF
REMER—BERRR  BERBRERBRPEEDRIHEEL82.76% &
17.24% B AR 4

“%” per cent

[%] Aot

Notes: BiEE

—  all dates are shown in d/dd.m/mm.yyyy format —  FERXBEHYRB A/ FRAETR
— allfigures shown in $'m, $ million, $’000 and % are approximates —  FEBEBER TRRkBE BRI UE
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